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Dear Stockholders, Customers, Partners, and Employees:
 
2003 was another difficult year for Intershop.  Companies remained reluctant to invest in 
information technology in 2003 due to the weak overall economy.  As a result, Intershop's 
business from e-commerce software solutions declined in the fiscal year 2003, forcing the 
Company to make further adjustments to its operational business.
 
In sales, Intershop focused on large key accounts and made greater use of indirect chan-
nels via partners and distributors, particularly abroad. Our activities mainly involved upgrad-
ing existing customer systems to include the improved e-commerce functionality offered 
by Intershop's Enfinity MultiSite software, and extending our substantial competitive edge 
at Europe's leading online shops.
 
In view of the difficult market situation, Intershop consolidated its international sales struc-
ture and reduced its global headcount. This enabled the Company to cut its total opera-
tional costs year-on-year, and therefore to reduce its net loss for 2003 by 32% year-on-year.
 

On behalf of the management team at Intershop, I would like to thank all of our stockhold-
ers, customers, partners, and employees for their continuing trust and their active support. 
 
Sincerely,
 
 

Dr. Jürgen Schöttler
Chief Executive Officer
 
 
This annual report contains forward-looking statements regarding future events or the future 
financial and operational performance of Intershop. Actual events or performance may differ 
materially from those contained or implied in such forward-looking statements. Risks and 
uncertainties that could lead to such differences could include, among other things: Inter-
shop's limited operating history, the unpredictability of future revenues and expenses and 
potential fluctuations in revenues and operating results, significant dependence on large sin-
gle customer deals, consumer trends, the level of competition, seasonality, risks related to 
electronic security, possible governmental regulation, and general economic conditions. Addi-
tional information regarding factors that could potentially affect Intershop's business, finan-
cial condition, and operating results is included in Intershop's filings with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, including the Company's Form 20-F dated June 6, 2003.
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    Market Environment 

In the fiscal year 2003, the business of the Intershop Communications AG Group (“Inter-
shop,” “the Company,” or “the Intershop Group”) and Intershop Communications AG (the 
“AG”), which acts as the holding entity for the Intershop Group, was impacted by sustained 
weak demand for enterprise software and a general reluctance to invest in corporate infor-
mation technology (IT). 
 
Although Internet usage increased again in the fiscal year 2003, IT expenditure on enter-
prise application software continued to decline. According to a survey conducted by For-
rester Research, IT expenditure by companies in Germany – the key market for Intershop’s 
products – fell by 4% year-on-year in 2003. The European Information Technology Observa-
tory (EITO) also calculates expenditure on software products by companies in Germany as 
having decreased as against the previous year by 0.3% to €15 billion.
 
The reluctance of companies to invest in IT was a reflection of the generally weak macroe-
conomic environment. After a year of economic stagnation in 2002, GDP (gross domestic 
product) in Germany contracted by 0.2% year-on-year in 2003.
 
As a result of the economic downturn in the fiscal year 2003, companies tended to post-
pone or even scale back their IT spending. As was the case in 2002, IT spending decisions 
were dominated by return-on-investment (ROI) considerations. Enterprise customers 
focused on products with high ROI and low-risk turnkey solutions requiring minimal levels 
of customization to achieve a low total cost of ownership (TCO). Customer demand pat-
terns in 2003 shifted to the replacement and enhancement of existing systems and pro-
longing their lifecycles.
 
In the light of these developments, fiscal 2003 was a year of operational consolidation for 
Intershop. To improve the Company’s financial performance, it further adjusted its opera-
tions to reflect the year-on-year fall in revenue.

    Operational Consolidation 

To streamline the Group structure, Intershop Communications AG as the holding entity for 
the Group acquired the assets of Intershop Software Entwicklungs GmbH, a formerly 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Intershop Communications AG, by way of a merger entered in 
the commercial register of the Local Court of Gera, Germany, on October 1, 2003 with 
retroactive effect from January 1, 2003. As a result, all operating functions as well as the 
intellectual property rights of Intershop Software Entwicklungs GmbH were merged into 
Intershop Communications AG, which previously acted exclusively as the holding entity for 
the Intershop Group of companies. The AG thus acquired all significant assets and the 
majority of the employees of the Intershop Group.
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 Prior to the completion of this merger, the merger of Intershop Communications GmbH, a 
formerly wholly-owned subsidiary of Intershop Communications, Inc., with Intershop Soft-
ware Entwicklungs GmbH was effected on September 25, 2003 by way of entry in the com-
mercial register of the Local Court of Gera, Germany.
 
As part of the implementation of the Company’s restructuring plans announced on January 
21, 2003 and July 2, 2003, operations in France were discontinued and European sales 
activities outside Germany were transferred to local distributors in Sweden, Norway, Den-
mark, and the United Kingdom (as of January 1, 2004).
 
To support operational realignment efforts within the Company, Intershop adjusted its busi-
ness activities in line with the lower level of revenue recorded in the fiscal year 2003.
 
Total revenue fell from €45.1 million in fiscal 2002 to €23.2 million in fiscal 2003. As a 
result, the number of employees declined across all areas of the Group. As of December 
31, 2003, the Group had 278 full-time equivalent employees, representing a decrease of 
42% or 201 full-time equivalent employees as against the previous year. As of December 
31, 2003, Intershop employed 71% of its global workforce in technical departments such 
as research and development as well as services; 14% were employed in sales and market-
ing; and 15% were employed in general and administrative functions.
 
The AG had an average of 371 employees in the fiscal year 2003. By comparison, it 
employed an average of 13 employees in the fiscal year 2002.
 
As part of the reorganization, the Supervisory Board appointed Dr. Jürgen Schöttler as 
Chairman of the Management Board on July 14, 2003. Stephan Schambach, co-founder 
and major shareholder of Intershop, was the Chairman of the Management Board until this 
date. From this date until he left the Company on February 4, 2004, he was the Manage-
ment Board member responsible for Strategy and Product Development. In addition, for-
mer Management Board member Werner Fuhrmann left the Company on July 16, 2003.

    Product and Sales Strategy 

In 2003, Intershop positioned itself as a provider of high-quality e-commerce software for 
enterprise customers with complex requirements for their online sales channels.
 
As in the previous year, the Company continued to target global enterprise clients with its 
high-end product offering.
 
Intershop supported a large number of online commerce models with its core Enfinity tech-
nology, including industry-specific solutions for the automobile industry (Automotive), for 
the high-tech sector and manufacturing industry (High-Tech/Manufacturing), and for trade 
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(Retail). The cross-industry solutions also offered by Intershop included solutions for busi-
ness-to-business models (Enfinity B2B Solution), for business-to-consumer models (Enfinity 
B2C Solution), for online procurement models (Enfinity Procurement Solution), and for cen-
tralized content management systems (Enfinity Content Management Solution).
 
Alongside specific e-commerce solutions, Intershop also marketed Enfinity MultiSite, its lat-
est platform based on Enfinity technology.  Enfinity MultiSite enables enterprises to deploy 
and centrally manage multiple e-commerce initiatives across different business units from 
a single platform, thus minimizing the implementation and operating costs of e-commerce 
solutions.
 
Enfinity MultiSite allows enterprises to pursue an IT-strategy, enabling them to centrally 
manage multiple online channels and web content simultaneously. These systems focus on 
integrating all e-commerce processes across disparate countries, markets, business units, 
applications, and systems.
 
In fiscal 2003, Intershop’s Enfinity-based software solutions formed the cornerstone of the 
e-commerce strategies of a large number of enterprises. According to an industry analysis 
conducted by Nielsen/NetRatings in September 2003, four out of five German online 
shops run Intershop Enfinity; these include extremely popular sites such as Otto.de, 
Tchibo.de, T-Com.de, and Quelle.de.
 
In the light of the difficult market environment and the restructuring measures imple-
mented in 2003, Intershop’s activities in Germany focused primarily on existing business 
with large customers such as Deutsche Telekom, Otto, KarstadtQuelle, and HP. 

    Revenue 

Due to the continued weakness in corporate IT spending, Intershop’s total revenue in 2003 
fell to €23.2 million from €45.1 million in the previous year. License revenue totaled 
€6.5 million in 2003, compared with €22.5 million in the comparable prior-year period. 
Service revenue (including consulting, customer support, maintenance, and other revenue) 
totaled €16.7 million in 2003 as against €22.6 million in 2002.
 
Europe remained Intershop’s primary market, accounting for €19.2 million or 83% of total 
global revenue in 2003 as against €35.0 million or 78% in the previous year. As part of its 
restructuring measures, Intershop reduced its European workforce by 43% year-on-year to 
248 full-time equivalent employees (as of December 31, 2003). This reduction was 
achieved mainly through headcount reductions in Germany, the discontinuation of opera-
tions in France, and the transfer of sales activities to local distributors in Sweden, Norway, 
Denmark and – as of January 1, 2004 – in the United Kingdom. This means that Germany 
is the only country in Europe where Intershop is still operating using a direct sales model 
via its offices in Jena, Hamburg, and Stuttgart.
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 The AG, which is responsible for the Group’s business in Germany, generated revenue of 
€17.5 million in the year under review as against €0 million in the previous year; this was 
due to the transfer of operating activities following the merger. Following the merger of 
Intershop Software Entwicklungs GmbH into the AG, the latter employed average 371 
employees as of December 31, 2003, as against an average of 13 employees at December 
31, 2002 prior to the merger.
 
In the fiscal year 2003, Intershop generated €3.3 million in total revenue or 14% of total 
global revenue in the Americas region, compared with €9.0 million or 20% in 2002.  Inter-
shop’s U.S. headquarters in San Francisco ensured that it was represented in the strategi-
cally important U.S. software market in 2003. Further organizational streamlining through-
out 2003 reduced headcount in the Americas by 51% year-on-year to 19 full-time equiva-
lent employees as of December 31, 2003.
 
In the Asia Pacific region, Intershop generated €0.7 million in revenue in the fiscal year 
2003, representing 3% of total global revenue, compared with €1.1 million or 2% of total 
global revenue in the comparable prior-year period. Intershop has moved to a full distribu-
tor model in the Asia Pacific region, supported by its global partners to provide the most 
efficient client support. The Company increased headcount across its remaining Asia Paci-
fic office locations in Tokyo, Japan, and Hong Kong, China, by 5 full-time equivalent employ-
ees year-on-year to 11 as of December 31, 2003.
 
In 2003, Intershop sold 44 Enfinity configurations (i.e., Enfinity platforms and solutions as 
well as Enfinity MultiSite), bringing the total number of Enfinity configurations sold world-
wide since the fourth quarter of 1999 to 456. In comparison, Intershop sold 94 Enfinity 
configurations in the fiscal year 2002.
 
In 2003, the Company continued to utilize indirect sales channels via partners. Business 
with Intershop’s partners generated approximately 12% of license revenue in 2003, as 
against 52% in 2002. The decline in revenue generated through partners largely reflects 
the overall weak demand for e-commerce software as a result of reduced corporate IT 
spending.
 
In further developing its indirect sales channels, Intershop established new sales and devel-
opment partnerships in 2003, including with CaContent GmbH, the Bertelsmann subsidiary 
Arvato Systems, the software provider Avail Intelligence, as well as Bsteel in China and Brel 
Software in Singapore.
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    Gross Profit 

Gross profit generated in the fiscal year 2003 was €11.1 million, as against €26.0 million 
in the fiscal year 2002. Gross margin on sales for 2003 was 48%, down from 58% in the pre-
vious year. This decrease was primarily due to both the absolute and relative declines in 
high-margin license revenues.
 
The license gross margin in 2003 amounted to 92%, compared with 94% in 2002.
 
The Company’s service gross margin (including consulting, customer support, mainte-
nance, and other revenue) amounted to 31% in the fiscal year 2003, as against 21% in the 
fiscal year 2002.
 
This year-on-year improvement in the service gross margin was driven primarily by a better 
utilization of service personnel in conjunction with a reduction in the service workforce.

    Expense and Income 

During the course of the implementation of the restructuring measures announced on Jan-
uary 21, 2003 and July 2, 2003, Intershop reduced its global workforce by 201 employees 
in the course of 2003, to 278 full-time equivalent employees as of December 31, 2003. 
Due to these measures and the resulting efficiency gains, Intershop reduced total opera-
tional costs (cost of revenue and operating expense) by 39%, from €73.8 million in 2002 
to €45.0 million in 2003.
 
Headcount reductions affected all areas of the Company but were aimed at largely preserv-
ing Intershop’s core technological expertise in research and development. As of December 
31, 2003, Intershop employed 197 full-time equivalents in technical departments such as 
research and development and services, 40 full-time equivalents in sales and marketing, 
and 41 full-time equivalents in general and administrative functions.
 
As a result of implementing its cost savings measures, the Company recorded restructur-
ing charges of €3.6 million in the fiscal year 2003, driven primarily by severance payments 
to former employees and facility-related consolidation charges.  By comparison, the Com-
pany recorded restructuring costs of €5.3 million in the fiscal year 2002.
 

In line with further workforce reductions in the research and development (R&D) depart-
ment, Intershop’s R&D costs decreased from €7.2 million in the previous year to €6.3 mil-
lion in 2003.
 
Due to lower revenue-dependent commission payments to sales employees, as well as an 
improved cost structure in the sales and marketing department, sales and marketing 
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expenses were further reduced in the fiscal year 2003. They decreased from €29.4 million 
in 2002 to €14.2 million in 2003.
 
Included in the Company’s sales and marketing expenses for 2003 were costs for the 2003 
CeBIT trade fair in Hanover, Germany, as well as for a marketing campaign to roll out Enfin-
ity MultiSite.
 

Due to the Company’s centralization efforts and the resulting significantly reduced infras-
tructure supporting its business model, general and administrative (G&A) expenses 
decreased from €12.8 million in the fiscal year 2002 to €9.0 million in the fiscal year 
2003.
 
 Depreciation and amortization charges amounted to €3.2 million in 2003, as against 
€9.1 million in the previous year. This is due primarily to lower depreciation charges for 
purchased customer relationship management software in the fiscal year 2003. Invest-
ments in 2003 focused on capital replacements to adequately support the Company’s 
ongoing operations in line with reduced business activities and current restructuring mea-
sures.
 
Due to the significant year-on-year decline in total operational costs, Intershop reduced its 
operating loss from €28.7 million in 2002 to €21.8 million in 2003 despite generating 
lower revenues year-on-year.
 

The operating loss generated by the AG fell from €59.7 million in the fiscal year 2002 to 
€15.5 million in the fiscal year 2003. This was primarily due to lower valuation allowances 
at the AG.
 
Reflecting significant cost reductions, Intershop reduced its net loss from €27.6 million or 
a net loss of €1.47 per share in 2002 to €18.6 million or a net loss of €0.90 per share in 
2003; this represents a fall of 32%.

    Liquidity and Balance Sheet 

Net cash usage related to operating activities decreased from €22.7 million in the fiscal 
year 2002 to €13.1 million in the fiscal year 2003, primarily driven by lower net losses 
from operating activities and by reduced net working capital requirements in 2003 as com-
pared with 2002.
 
Investing activities generated a total of €4.9 million in 2003, largely driven by proceeds 
from the sale of marketable securities. In comparison, investing activities generated net 
cash of €15.7 million in 2002; this was also primarily due to proceeds from the sale of mar-
ketable securities. The cash generated in both periods reflects reclassifications between 
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the balance sheet items “cash and cash equivalents” and “marketable securities,” which, 
together with the balance sheet item “restricted cash,” represent the Company’s total liq-
uidity. 
 
No net cash was generated by financing activities in the fiscal year 2003, compared with 
€10.0 million the fiscal year 2002. All of the cash generated from financing activities in 
2002 related to the cash investment through a private equity placement of Intershop com-
mon bearer shares by Stephan Schambach, the co-founder of the Company, who was a 
Management Board member at the balance sheet date.
 
Cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, and restricted cash totaled €8.8 million as 
of December 31, 2003, compared with €22.5 million as of December 31, 2002. Intershop 
is in active negotiations with a number of international financial and strategic investors in 
order to improve its cash position and capital resources.
 
Days sales outstanding (DSO) fell from 78 as of December 31, 2002 to 63 as of December 
31, 2003, reflecting the improvements in receivables management achieved in the fiscal 
year 2003.
 
Trade receivables amounted to €3.3 million as of December 31, 2003, compared with 
€11.1 million as of December 31, 2002. This decrease was driven primarily by a year-on-
year reduction in sales in the fiscal year 2003, as well as a lower DSO as of December 31, 
2003 compared with December 31, 2002.
 
As of December 31, 2003, Intershop had short-term deferred revenues of €5.1 million, 
compared with €6.3 million as of December 31, 2002. This decrease is primarily due to 
lower service revenue.

    Capital Structure 

Effective January 1, 2003, Intershop’s common bearer shares were admitted to the Prime 
Standard trading segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. The Prime Standard trading 
segment, newly created at the beginning of 2003, essentially replaced the former Neuer 
Markt trading segment, on which Intershop’s common bearer shares had previously been 
traded. With admission to the Prime Standard, Intershop complies with the comprehensive 
transparency requirements of this segment, including quarterly financial reporting, use of 
internationally accepted accounting standards (e.g., U.S. GAAP), publication of a financial 
calendar, at least one analyst conference per year, ad-hoc disclosures, and ongoing finan-
cial communication in both German and English.
 
On January 14, 2003, the Company announced an effective date of January 17, 2003 for 
the technical execution of the reverse stock split approved at the Company’s Special Stock-
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holders’ Meeting held on October 30, 2002. As a result of the reverse stock split, five old 
Intershop common bearer shares were exchanged for one new Intershop common bearer 
share. The reverse split became legally effective upon registration with the Local Court in 
Gera, Germany on December 12, 2002 and was technically implemented after the close of 
trading on January 17, 2003.
 
The converted Intershop common bearer shares were traded for the first time on January 
20, 2003. Following the stock split, the International Securities Identification Number 
(ISIN) of Intershop Communications AG’s common bearer shares changed from ISIN DE 
0006227002 (equivalent to German Securities Identification Number – WKN – 622700) to 
ISIN DE 0007472920 (equivalent to German Securities Identification Number – WKN – 
747292), and the ticker symbol of Intershop’s common bearer shares listed in the Prime 
Standard segment changed from ISH to ISH1. 
 
Subsequent to the 5:1 reverse stock split of Intershop’s ordinary common bearer shares 
traded in Germany, a change in the ratio of Intershop’s American Depositary Receipt (ADR) 
listed on the Nasdaq National Market to the underlying common bearer shares traded in 
Germany was effected on February 6, 2003. After the ratio change, 1 Intershop ADR evi-
denced 1 Intershop common bearer share, instead of 5 Intershop common bearer shares 
as previously. The ratio change did not affect the value of Intershop investors’ ADR hold-
ings. 
 
On June 18, 2003, Intershop confirmed that the share swap announced on January 23, 
2002, under which co-founder and then Management Board member Stephan Schambach 
exchanged his shares in subsidiary Intershop Communications, Inc. for common bearer 
shares in the parent Company, Intershop Communications AG, had been completed. Under 
the transaction, Mr. Schambach exchanged his 4,166,665 shares of Intershop Communica-
tions, Inc., the U.S. subsidiary majority-owned by Intershop Communications AG, for 
2,499,999 common bearer shares of Intershop Communications AG. To this end, Intershop 
Communications AG issued 2,499,999 new common bearer shares from Conditional Capi-
tal III. As of December 31, 2003, no application for admission of these shares to trading at 
a German stock exchange had been filed.
 
Similarly, on June 17, 2003, Burgess Jamieson, a member of the Supervisory Board of Inter-
shop Communications AG, exchanged his 381,500 shares of Intershop Communications, 
Inc. for 228,900 new common bearer shares of Intershop Communications AG on the basis 
of an existing exchange option. To this end, Intershop Communications AG issued 228,900 
new common bearer shares from Conditional Capital III. As of December 31, 2003, no 
application for admission of these shares to trading at a German stock exchange had been 
filed.
 
The transaction by Mr. Schambach increased the number of issued shares of Intershop 
Communications AG by 12.8%, from 19,535,300 before the implementation of the share 
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swap to 22,035,299 afterwards. The transaction diluted the consolidated earnings per 
share for the fiscal year 2003 by approximately 6%. As a result of the swap, Mr. Scham-
bach’s interest in the capital of Intershop Communications AG increased from 8.93% 
before the implementation of the share swap to 19.26% afterwards.
 
The share swaps by Mr. Schambach and Mr. Jamieson represent a consolidation of the 
shareholder structure within the Intershop Group between one of the subsidiaries and the 
parent Company, Intershop Communications AG. The transaction facilitates the consolida-
tion of the ownership structure that arose following the Company’s IPO in 1998. In the 
course of the preparations for the IPO of the newly founded Intershop Communications AG 
in 1998, both Mr. Schambach and Mr. Jamieson were granted the right to exchange their 
interests in Intershop Communications, Inc. for common bearer shares of Intershop Com-
munications AG within a period of five years. As a result of the exchanges, Mr. Scham-
bach’s and Mr. Jamieson’s entire stakes in Intershop Communications, Inc. were trans-
ferred to Intershop Communications AG, which now holds 100% of the common stock of 
Intershop Communications, Inc. following the completion of the transaction.
 
On July 24, 2003, Intershop announced that the Company was planning to merge all assets 
of its previously wholly-owned subsidiary Intershop Software Entwicklungs GmbH with 
those of Intershop Communications AG. As a result, all operating functions as well as the 
intellectual property rights of Intershop Software Entwicklungs GmbH were merged into 
Intershop Communications AG, which previously acted exclusively as the holding entity for 
the Intershop Group of companies. Intershop’s stockholders were notified of the planned 
merger in the German Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on July 25, 2003 pursuant to sec-
tion 62 (3) of the Umwandlungsgesetz (German Reorganization and Transformation Act). 
The merger of Intershop Software Entwicklungs GmbH into Intershop Communications AG 
was effected on October 1, 2003 by entry in the commercial register at the Local Court of 
Gera, Germany. Prior to this, the merger of Intershop Communications GmbH, a previously 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Intershop Communications, Inc., with Intershop Software 
Entwicklungs GmbH was effected on September 25, 2003, by entry in the commercial reg-
ister at the Local Court of Gera, Germany.
 
In 2003, no employee stock options were exercised and exchanged for Intershop Communi-
cations AG common bearer shares. 
 
On October 30, 2003, Intershop announced that, due to the low trading volume of Inter-
shop American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) and the fact that the ADR facility accounted for 
a low proportion of the total number of outstanding shares issued by Intershop, the Man-
agement Board intended to terminate its ADR facility and the listing of its ADRs on the Nas-
daq National Market in the United States and to deregister both the Intershop ADRs and 
the Intershop common bearer shares underlying the ADRs in accordance with the Securi-
ties Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). 
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After careful consideration of the advantages and disadvantages of remaining listed on Nas-
daq, and in particular the costs of subsequent obligations arising from such a listing and 
the continuation of Intershop’s ADR facility, the Management Board does not consider 
there to be any material advantage in retaining the Company’s ADR facility or its Nasdaq 
listing.  Intershop’s current business in the United States is not affected by the decision to 
terminate the listing of its ADRs on Nasdaq. Likewise, Intershop’s total number of shares 
outstanding and the listing of its common bearer shares in the Prime Standard of the Frank-
furt Stock Exchange are not affected by these actions. 

    Foreign Exchange Exposure 

Business transactions carried out by Intershop’s various operations are denominated in 
their respective local currencies and are translated into the reporting currency, the euro, at 
the end of the period. The largest portion of Intershop’s 2003 business was conducted in 
currencies that are part of the European Monetary Union exchange rate mechanism and 
are thus pegged to the euro. The Company’s foreign exchange exposure was therefore lim-
ited to business transactions conducted in currencies that were not part of the European 
Monetary Union exchange rate mechanism, notably the U.S. dollar and the pound sterling.

    Organizational Changes 

On March 31, 2003, Dr. Harald Rieger was appointed to the Supervisory Board by the 
Local Court in Gera, Germany; Dr. Rieger stepped down from his position as a member of 
the Supervisory Board for personal reasons effective October 31, 2003.
 
On July 14, 2003, Intershop announced that, after approval by the Supervisory Board, the 
Company’s founder Stephan Schambach had handed over the positions of Chairman of the 
Management Board and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) to Intershop’s Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO), Dr. Jürgen Schöttler, with immediate effect, and that Stephan Schambach would 
remain a member of the Management Board with responsibility for Strategy and Product 
Development. The Company further announced that Dr. Schöttler would jointly perform the 
tasks of CEO and CFO until further notice.
 
On July 16, 2003, Intershop announced that, for personal reasons, Werner Fuhrmann had 
asked the Supervisory Board to be immediately released from his duties as a member of 
the Management Board. The Supervisory Board accepted Mr. Fuhrmann’s decision. Since 
joining Intershop in July 2002, Mr. Fuhrmann had served as a Management Board member 
and President EMEA, in which role he was responsible for sales in the region of Europe, the 
Middle East, and Africa. The Company announced that, for the time being, Mr. Fuhrmann’s 
position would not be filled and that Intershop’s sales management would report directly to 
Dr. Jürgen Schöttler, Chairman of the Management Board.
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    Group Risks and Risks Intershop Communications AG 

Various risks could prove to be a threat to the financial situation, assets, earnings, and con-
tinued existence of Intershop, including (but not limited to) the following:
 

Plans to continue to invest in operational activities in order to strengthen the Company's 
market position may have a negative effect upon profitability in the future and reduce the 
Company's liquidity. As of December 31, 2003, cash and cash equivalents, marketable 
securities, and restricted cash totaled €8.8 million. This was comprised of unrestricted 
cash in the amount of €2.6 million and restricted cash for lease obligations relating to the 
office building in Jena (Intershop Tower) in which Intershop is the main tenant, which 
amounted to €6.2 million. The increasingly strained financial situation in 2003 also had a 
negative effect on confidence among customers, partners, and employees as regards the 
long-term future of the Company and may also result in Intershop’s customers being reluc-
tant to place orders in the future, which would significantly impact the Company’s operat-
ing activities. Although the Management Board has been actively looking for financial and 
strategic investors since the fiscal year 2002, no external source of finance for the Com-
pany’s ongoing business and future growth has been found to date. If it is not possible to 
raise sufficient capital in the future, Intershop could be forced to delay, reduce, or com-
pletely discontinue operations.
 
The Company has developed a business plan to address its operational needs in the future. 
According to this plan, the Company’s operating result is expected to break even in 2004 
as a result of cost reductions to a level of €6.5 million per quarter and an increase in rev-
enue to €26 million. The expected increase in revenue is based on the one hand on the 
assessment made by market analysts, who are predicting an increase in investments in the 
areas of information technology and software, and on the other on the transactions 
expected with existing and new customers of the Company. In addition, the forecasts for 
the years after 2005 assume annual revenue increases of approximately 10%, while costs 
are assumed to remain at current levels through 2006 and then increase in line with rev-
enue from 2007. This expected development will lead to an increase in operating result, 
from expected break-even in 2004, to €2.7 million in 2005, and €4.6 million in 2006, with 
further growth of approximately 10% p.a. expected for subsequent years. The forecast also 
includes a significant contribution toward growth from the U.S. market, due on the one 
hand to the Company’s sales expectations, and on the other to a general increase in 
demand. On the basis of these assumptions, the Company expects U.S. revenue growth of 
48% in 2004, 30 % in 2005 and 2006, and 20% to 25% in subsequent years.
 

Should revenues not materialize and expenses decrease to planned levels, or additional 
equity financing be unavailable to the Company, management will restrict certain of the 
Company's planned activities and operations, as necessary, to sustain operations and con-
serve cash resources.
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In the past three fiscal years, Intershop’s business has been heavily impacted by the eco-
nomic downturn, both globally and in particular in Germany, and the subsequent weakness 
in corporate IT spending, especially in Europe. This may adversely affect Intershop’s ability 
to generate revenue from business with corporate customers, significantly impact operat-
ing results in the future, and substantially increase the need for additional funding.
 
The market for e-commerce applications is maturing and is subject to ongoing change. 
Even for the short term, future developments are therefore hard to predict. Accordingly, 
any forecasts carry a high level of uncertainty. For planning purposes, Intershop uses analy-
ses available from market research companies as well as the information it obtains through 
its many contacts with other market participants. However, there is a fundamental risk that 
market trends may not be recognized in a timely fashion and that management may fail to 
gauge the demand for e-commerce solutions with regard to customer requirements cor-
rectly.
 
Intershop’s quarterly revenue in the past has frequently included a certain number of large 
single deals that represented relatively large portions of overall quarterly revenue. Further-
more, the Company generated more than 16.6% and 15% of total revenue in 2003 from two 
individual customers. The Company’s significant dependence on large single deals and sin-
gle customers may in the future continue to hamper revenue forecasts and may adversely 
affect the Company’s financial performance if certain large deals cannot be signed during a 
quarter.
 
Operating results for future periods are never entirely predictable, even in the most stable 
of economic times. Intershop expects to continue to experience fluctuations in its quarterly 
results and in its guidance, when provided, for financial performance in future periods. 
These fluctuations, which in the future may be significant, could cause substantial volatility 
in the price of Intershop’s stock and could harm the Company’s ability to obtain future 
funding.
 
Intershop competes directly with other providers of e-commerce technologies. In the 
dynamic e-commerce market, it must be assumed that new and existing providers will sig-
nificantly improve their product portfolio and their sales operations. Intershop’s market 
position could be threatened if it does not succeed in maintaining or improving its competi-
tiveness with regard to the profile and quality of its products and services, and the manner 
in which they are marketed.
 
Intershop’s success in the market is heavily dependent on the technical performance of its 
products. Software faults that lead to the restricted functionality or performance of exist-
ing and future products could considerably reduce the acceptance of Intershop’s products. 
 
The Company is a defendant in various legal matters arising in the normal course of busi-
ness. It is possible that an adverse ruling in any such matter individually, or some or all of 
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the matters collectively, may have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations. 
The Company expenses legal costs associated with loss contingency as such legal costs 
are incurred.
 
The Company is a defendant in a consolidated class-action lawsuit in the United States and 
an investigation by the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (Bundesanstalt für 
Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht, BAFin; formerly German Federal Supervisory Office for Secu-
rities Trading (Bundesaufsichtsamt für den Wertpapierhandel, BAWe)). At the beginning of 
2001, several securities class-action lawsuits were filed in the U.S. against Intershop Com-
munications AG, Management Board members, certain other officers, and the underwriters 
of the Company’s September 2000 public offering. The plaintiffs allege that the defendants 
made material misrepresentations and omissions of material facts concerning the Com-
pany’s business performance. The plaintiffs seek an unspecified amount of damages. The 
Management Board believes there is no merit to these allegations and intends to defend 
itself vigorously. However, there can be no assurance that the Company will prevail in the 
lawsuit, or that the outcome of the lawsuit will not adversely affect the Company's opera-
tions. In Germany, BAFin announced in January 2001 that it had initiated an investigation 
regarding a possible violation of the duty to disclose material information in connection 
with the release on January 2, 2001, of Intershop Communications AG’s preliminary results 
for 2000. BAFin handed this case over to the public prosecutor in Hamburg, Germany, who 
initiated an investigation into complaints about stock price manipulations in May 2001. The 
Company is cooperating fully with these investigations and, to the best of the manage-
ment’s knowledge, has never previously been the subject of such investigations. The Com-
pany believes there is no merit to these allegations.
 
Intershop has taken extensive measures to protect the brand names it uses worldwide. 
Nonetheless, there is always a possibility that conflicts with third parties may arise con-
cerning the use of individual brand names. In accordance with the prevailing standards in 
Europe, the programs and technologies developed by Intershop do not enjoy total patent 
protection.  Although Intershop takes great care in protecting its intellectual property, it is 
impossible to rule out violation of property rights by third parties. It is also possible that 
third parties may take legal actions against Intershop for violation of patents or other 
rights. Patent disputes are widespread in the software industry, particularly in the U.S., and 
are often associated with significant costs for court action or out-of-court settlements. 
Although Intershop is convinced that it has not violated any patents, it is impossible to rule 
out a negative impact on Intershop’s operating results due to such claims from third par-
ties.
 
When choosing enterprise software, customers’ decisions are partly based on a provider’s 
reputation and profile, not just on the performance of its products. Should Intershop fail to 
achieve the necessary profile and desired image with its target groups, this could have a 
negative effect on the demand for Intershop products.
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Intershop’s products are also sold and implemented by IT service companies. If Intershop 
does not succeed in training a sufficient number of these companies in the use of its prod-
ucts and attracting them as partners, this could negatively impact sales of the products.
  
The success of Intershop’s business depends substantially upon the performance of execu-
tive officers and key employees, especially in the areas of product development and sales. 
Failure to retain present employees and executive officers and to attract sufficient num-
bers of new personnel could have a negative effect upon the Company’s operating results.
 
License revenue accounts for a significant share of Intershop’s overall revenue. Under U.S. 
GAAP, software license revenue is recognized as such when sales agreements have been 
signed, the licenses have been delivered, the license fee is fixed and determinable, and pay-
ment is probable. If a sale includes services that are essential to the features and function-
ality of the software, revenue is recognized as such in proportion to the extent of comple-
tion of the overall project. In view of the uncertainty with respect to the length of sales and 
implementation cycles, which primarily depends upon Intershop customers, revenue is sub-
ject to strong variation from one quarter to the next. Given that a small number of large 
contracts often account for a large portion of revenue, this effect can be very substantial. 
Since operating costs are heavily dependent on the number of personnel employed at any 
one time and, therefore, cannot be varied significantly in the short term, this means that 
fluctuations in revenue may lead to corresponding fluctuations in operating results.
 
In the software industry, a large portion of license revenue is often not recorded evenly 
over a quarter, but rather toward the end of a quarter. This is due to the fact that, in many 
cases, contracts are not awarded until the last third of a quarter. Because of this, a high 
level of uncertainty as to whether the planned revenue target will be achieved usually 
remains well into the quarter.
 
To a certain extent, Intershop’s operating and financial results are reported in local curren-
cies that are not pegged to the euro, and are therefore translated into euros for inclusion in 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Since no hedging or other arrangements 
have been made to guard against the risk of currency fluctuations, currency fluctuations 
could affect the results of operations and Intershop’s earnings.
 
As part of the substantial restructuring measures that are being implemented within the 
Intershop Group, headcount was reduced further in the fiscal year 2003. As of December 
31, 2003, Intershop employed 278 full-time equivalents, representing a decline of 201 full-
time equivalents or 42% as against December 31, 2002. The headcount reduction in 2003, 
particularly in the finance department, meant a fall in the number of full-time employees 
responsible for both external financial reporting and internal financial planning and control. 
For a company that is listed simultaneously on two stock exchanges, one in Germany 
(Prime Standard of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange) and one in the U.S. (Nasdaq National 
Market), with correspondingly high transparency standards, the headcount reduction 
increases the risk of incomplete, inaccurate, or delayed financial reporting, both externally 
and internally. 
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 The financial statements of Intershop Communications Aktiengesellschaft show that as of 
December 31, 2003, the Company had investments in affiliated companies of 
€15,728,899 relating to its investment in Intershop Communications Inc. The carrying 
value of the investment was examined using discounted cash flow analysis performed by 
the Company itself.
 
The measurement of the carrying value is based on a detailed forecast for 2004 through 
2008, followed by a transition to a perpetual annuity. Based on the sales forecast of Inter-
shop Communications Inc., revenue is expected to grow by 48% in 2004, from the very low 
level achieved the previous year. Revenue is expected to grow annually by 30% in 2005 and 
2007, by 25% in 2007, and by 23% in 2008. Based on these assumptions the operating 
result of Intershop Communications Inc. will be €0.7 million in 2004, and is expected to 
grow further over the period covered by the forecast. The continuous growth assumption is 
based on general analyst expectations with regard to investment activity in the area of 
information technology in the US market, as well as projects expected with existing and 
new customers. The present value is calculated by discounting free cash flows by 15 %.
 
If the described expectations are not met, or if Intershop Communications Inc. cannot 
achieve the expected results for other reasons, the carrying value of the investment in affili-
ated companies would have to be written down for impairment in the financial statements 
of Intershop Communications Aktiengesellschaft.

    Risk Management 

Intershop’s objective has been to exploit business opportunities worldwide in order to maxi-
mize shareholder value. Yet, along with these opportunities, Intershop has faced a number 
of risks that are intrinsically linked with such opportunities. Generally, risks to the Com-
pany’s future development cannot be excluded completely, due to ever-changing market 
trends and limited planning certainty with regard to the license business. Intershop is anx-
ious to minimize operating risks by continuously expanding its comprehensive risk manage-
ment system.
 
At Intershop, a variety of systems and procedures are in place to monitor, analyze, and doc-
ument corporate risks. Intershop’s strategy to mitigate and manage risk has included a for-
ward-looking product strategy to anticipate developments in the marketplace and future 
needs of customers, emphasis upon product development, and the technological perfor-
mance of the Company’s products. Also included in this strategy were ongoing efforts to 
boost the Company’s profile with the relevant target groups, the formation of new business 
partnerships and alliances, training for third parties that market, sell, and deploy Intershop 
products, as well as measures to retain and recruit executive officers and key personnel, 
and to provide the necessary organizational infrastructure.
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In the fiscal year 2003, the Company has continued to monitor market trends and the activ-
ities of its competitors on an ongoing basis and has made use of market analyses and fore-
casts provided by leading market research companies. Intershop has maintained a compre-
hensive system of project management and quality controls in the area of product develop-
ment, where risk awareness plays a major role.
 
Intershop has used financial accounting, controlling, and forecasting software by SAP and 
Hyperion as well as customer relationship management (CRM) software by Siebel Systems 
to monitor and manage key corporate information worldwide. Quarterly financial state-
ments have ensured that information on business trends has remained up-to-date. In addi-
tion to the annual budget planning process, the Company has used time-adjusted forecasts 
to update budgets on a continuous basis. Budgets were reviewed periodically and adjusted 
when necessary. Ongoing accounting and controlling activities have provided information 
on variances between actual and target figures.
 
In addition, management has regularly analyzed the Company’s assets, financial position, 
and earnings. Frequent meetings at all hierarchy levels worldwide have ensured that there 
is an efficient exchange of information and a rapid decision-making process throughout the 
Company. The Management Board has informed the Supervisory Board at least once a 
quarter, but typically more often, about important corporate developments. The Supervi-
sory Board’s audit committee held meetings with the CFO and the head of accounting on a 
regular basis to discuss, analyze, and monitor corporate financial issues of day-to-day busi-
ness operations. Intershop’s internal policies on risk management and internal controls, on 
insider trading, and on the disclosure of material information have ensured that regulatory 
requirements are met, and that best management practices and the corporate governance 
recommendations contained in the German Corporate Governance Code were imple-
mented. 

    Subsequent Events 

On January 14, 2004, Intershop announced that it would voluntarily delist from the Nasdaq 
National Market (“Nasdaq”), and gave notice to Citibank, N.A., the depositary for Inter-
shop’s American Depositary Receipts (ADR) facility (the “Depositary”), to terminate the 
ADR facility effective as of the close of trading on February 17, 2004. From this date, ADRs 
issued by Intershop were no longer tradable on Nasdaq. Effective January 15, 2004, Inter-
shop also terminated its F-6 registration statement with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission in respect of all 98,550,000 unissued ADRs in its ADR facility.
 
On January 27, 2004, Intershop announced that it had agreed with Citibank, N.A. to 
shorten the six-month period for holders of Intershop ADRs to surrender them in order to 
withdraw the underlying Intershop common bearer shares (“surrender period”). In accor-
dance with the termination provision, which was amended as of January 27, 2004, holders 
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of Intershop ADRs were entitled to surrender their Intershop ADRs for withdrawal of the 
underlying Intershop common bearer shares at any time up to February 27, 2004, i.e., ten 
days after conclusion of the surrender agreement on February 17, 2004 rather than six 
months as previously. Intershop ADR holders who chose not to surrender their Intershop 
ADRs for withdrawal of the underlying Intershop common bearer shares received cash pro-
ceeds from the sale of such underlying Intershop common bearer shares at the price 
obtained on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.  The Depositary then remitted the cash pro-
ceeds from the sale, net of any applicable charges, expenses, taxes, or governmental 
charges, to such Intershop ADR holders.
 
Intershop’s issued and outstanding ADRs were deregistered with the SEC by submission of 
Form 15.
 
On February 4, 2004, Intershop announced that Stephan Schambach had asked the Super-
visory Board to be immediately released from his duties as a Member of the Management 
Board. The Supervisory Board accepted Mr. Schambach’s decision. As a result, Mr. Scham-
bach, a major shareholder of the Company with an interest in the capital stock of 19.26% 
at the balance sheet date, left the Company following the mutual termination of his con-
tract of service.
 
On March 5, 2004 Intershop announced that the Company's Executive Board (Vorstand) 
and Supervisory Board (Aufsichtsrat) had decided to implement a public rights issue from 
authorized capital in order to raise cash and strengthen the Company’s balance sheet.
 
As part of the subscription offer published on March 9, 2004 in the electronic Bundesanzei-
ger (Federal Gazette) and the Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung (FAZ), a German daily newspa-
per, the Company offered all current Intershop shareholders the opportunity to subscribe 
for one new Intershop common bearer share per 11.5 existing Intershop common bearer 
shares held at a price of €2.00 per share (indirect pre-emptive right) during the period 
from March 10, 2004 to March 24, 2004. To this end, Intershop issued 1,916,113 new 
common bearer shares from authorized capital. Any shares not subscribed by shareholders 
were placed with institutional investors by Munich, Germany-based VEM Aktienbank AG, 
the investment bank handling the transaction.
 

The new shares increased the total number of Intershop issued and outstanding shares by 
1,916,113, from 22,035,299 before the transaction to 23,951,412 after the transaction. 
The capital increase took legal effect by entry in the commercial register at the Local Court 
of Gera, Germany on March 30, 2004. The new shares were admitted to trading on the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange on April 6, 2004.  The new shares were traded for the first time 
on April 8, 2004.
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    Business Outlook 

In the light of the ongoing weak economic development – particularly in Germany, the pri-
mary sales market for Intershop’s products – independent industry experts and Intershop 
itself forecast that the further increase in commercial Internet usage will be accompanied 
by continued reluctance on the part of companies to invest in IT.
 
For example, Forrester Research expects Internet usage for online commerce to continue 
to rise. According to a study it has published, retail sales in the United States for pur-
chases concluded online will total around $230 billion in 2008; this represents 10% of all 
retail sales. The figure attributable to online sales will increase by an annual average of 
19% between 2003 and 2008. In Germany, too, demand for e-business application solu-
tions is expected to grow, particularly in the areas of purchasing, sales, and marketing, as 
well as customer services and maintenance.
 
Many industry experts believe that the forecast increase in commercial Internet usage will 
not be reflected in the form of increased corporate IT expenditure in the short term. For-
rester Research expects IT expenditure by companies in Germany, the primary market for 
Intershop’s products, to decrease further year-on-year in 2004 (-1%), only picking up again 
in 2005 (+4%). Growth in global IT expenditure is expected to be moderate. For example, 
the investment bank Goldman Sachs forecasts only a slight year-on-year increase in IT 
expenditure of 0.9%.
 
Apart from short- to medium-term IT spending constraints, Intershop believes that e-com-
merce software sales will be dominated by applications that centrally manage multiple 
online channels and web content. These systems focus on integrating all e-commerce pro-
cesses across disparate countries, markets, business units, applications, and systems. 
Intershop expects that customers adopting this approach will demand IT systems that can 
manage and exchange data seamlessly across heterogeneous software platforms and inte-
grate existing, often highly fragmented online commerce initiatives in order to save sys-
tems maintenance or reengineering costs. In the opinion of the Management Board, Inter-
shop’s Enfinity MultiSite software platform puts it in an excellent position to meet these 
market requirements, and it is focusing all of its efforts on further expanding its technology 
leadership in the area of e-commerce software.
 
On the basis of the significant reduction in total operational costs as of the end of 2003 
and the slight increase in IT expenditure by companies in 2004, Intershop expects to break 
even in the fiscal year 2004.
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We have issued the following audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements and 
the report on the situation of the Company and the Group:
 
“We have audited the consolidated financial statements comprising the balance sheet, 
statement of operations, statements of changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows as 
well as the notes to the financial statements prepared by INTERSHOP Communications 
Aktiengesellschaft, Jena, for the fiscal year from January 1 to December 31, 2003. The 
preparation and content of the consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of 
the Company’s management board. Our responsibility is to express an opinion whether the 
consolidated financial statements are in accordance with United States generally accepted 
accounting principles (US GAAP) based on our audit.
 
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Ger-
man auditing regulations and generally accepted standards for the audit of financial state-
ments promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftprüfer [in Deutschland] (IDW). Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit such that it can be assessed with reason-
able assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstate-
ment. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the 
Group and evaluations of possible misstatements are taken into account in the determina-
tion of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control sys-
tem and the evidence supporting the amounts of disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements are examined on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by man-
agement, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial state-
ments. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the net 
assets, financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Group for the fiscal 
year in accordance with US GAAP.
 
Our audit, which also extends to the report prepared by the management board on the situ-
ation of the Company and the Group for the fiscal year from January 1 to December 31, 
2003, has not led to any reservations. In our opinion, the report on the situation of the 
Company and the Group together with the other disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements accurately present the situation of the Group and the risks to future develop-
ment. We confirm that the consolidated financial statements and the group management 
report for the fiscal year from January 1 to December 31, 2003 satisfy with the condition 
required for the Company’s exemption from its obligation to prepare consolidated financial 
statements and a group management report in accordance with German law.
 
Without, however, qualifying this opinion, we also refer to the explanations by the Com-
pany in the report on the situation of the Company and the Group. In section 11. 'Risks to 
the Group and INTERSHOP Communications AG', the Company explains the proposed mea-
sures to improve the results of operations and the cash flow and presents the assumptions 
which are the basis of its corporate planning. If INTERSHOP Communications Aktienge-
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sellschaft is not able to implement its business plan for 2004, because, for example, these 
assumptions do not hold true, additional funds may become necessary to support business 
operations. If in such case such funds cannot be made available in time, INTERSHOP Com-
munications Aktiengesellschaft’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
could be jeopardized.”
 
Eschborn/Frankfurt/M., April 19, 2004
 
Ernst & Young
Revisions- und Treuhandgesellschaft mbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Nendza
Wirtschaftsprüfer

Jöns
Wirtschaftsprüfer
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    Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(in thousands €, except share and per-share amounts) 

As of December 31, 2002 2003
ASSETS   
Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 11,303 2,611
Marketable securities 4,172 -
Restricted cash 7,073 6,190
Trade receivables, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of €5,254 in 2003
and €7,511 in 2002 11,131 3,345
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,427 1,370

Total current assets 41,106 13,516
Property and equipment, net 4,301 1,106
Goodwill 4,473 4,473
Other assets 2,268 557
Total assets 52,148 19,652
   
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   
Current liabilities   

Current debt and current maturities of long-term debt 98 -
Accounts payable 840 249
Accrued restructuring costs 4,881 2,657
Other accrued liabilities 13,472 3,827
Deferred revenue 6,295 5,058

Total current liabilities 25,586 11,791
Long-term liabilities, net of current portion 152 -
Deferred revenue 38 23
Total liabilities 25,776 11,814
   
Shareholders' equity   

Common share, stated value €1--authorized: 78,567,219 shares; outstanding: 22,035,299 shares 
at December 31, 2003, and 19,306,400 shares at December 31, 2002, respectively 19,306 22,035
Additional paid-in capital - -
Accumulated deficit/ retained earnings 4,124 -17,245
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,942 3,048

Total shareholders' equity 26,372 7,838
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 52,148 19,652

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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    Consolidated Statements of Operations 

(In thousands €, except per-share amounts) 

For the year ended December 31, 2001 2002 2003
Revenues    

Licenses 20,480 22,462 6,505
Services, maintenance, and other 48,174 22,635 16,654

Total revenues 68,654 45,097 23,159
    
Cost of revenues    

Licenses 2,338 1,288 523
Services, maintenance, and other 41,433 17,814 11,522

Total costs of revenues 43,771 19,102 12,045
    
Gross profit 24,883 25,995 11,114
    
Operating expenses    

Research and development 15,179 7,225 6,260
Sales and marketing 60,766 29,363 14,181
General and administrative 38,108 12,760 8,942
Goodwill and acquired intangible asset amortization 21,091 - -
Restructuring costs and asset impairment 23,276 5,326 3,576

Total operating expenses 158,420 54,674 32,959
    
Operating loss (133,537) (28,679) (21,845)
    
Other income (expense)    

Interest income 3,759 651 609
Interest expense (76) (31) (374)
Write-down of investments (2,482) - -
Other income 538 504 2,970

Total other income 1,739 1,124 3,205
    
Net loss (131,798) (27,555) (18,640)
Basic and diluted loss per share  (7.48)  (1.47)  (0.90)
    
Shares used in computing    

For basic and diluted loss per share 17,627 18,731 20,749

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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    Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  

For the year ended December 31 (in thousands €) 2001 2002 2003
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Net loss (131,798) (27,555) (18,640)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities    
Depreciation and amortization 14,146 9,115 3,181
Amortization of goodwill 21,091 - -
Write-down of investments 2,482 - -
Non-cash income from deconsolidation - - (2,521)
Provision for doubtful accounts 13,712 (4,686) (1,614)
(Gain) loss on disposal of marketable securities (1,552) 152 (40)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment 137 689 (114)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities    
Accounts receivable 12,446 4,809 8,751
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (4,050) 2,497 5,772
Other assets (738) 1,104 1,599
Accounts payable (6,946) (2,643) (483)
Deferred revenue (1,383) 818 (504)
Accrued restructuring costs 10,653 (5,773) (1,455)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 824 (1,270) (7,033)
Net cash used in operating activities (70,976) (22,743) (13,101)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Restricted cash (7,705) 800 882
Proceeds on disposal of equipment 456 536 286
Purchases of property and equipment, net of capital leases (5,731) (670) (368)
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 92,605 47,541 8,294
Purchases of marketable securities (83,875) (32,498) (4,162)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (4,250) 15,709 4,932
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from sale of common shares 519 10,005 -
Repayment of indebtedness - - -250
Net cash provided by investing activities 519 10,005 -250
Effect of change in exchange rates on cash (248) (775) (273)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (74,955) 2,196 (8,692)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  84,062  9,107  11,303
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  9,107  11,303  2,611
Supplemental cash flow information    
Interest paid 17 31 374
Taxes paid 30 93 136

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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    Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity 

(in thousands €, except share data) 

 
Common

Shares

Common
Shares

Stated Value  
Balance,  January 1, 2001 88,003,016 88,003  
Other comprehensive loss:    

Net loss    
Foreign currency translation adjustments    
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale security, net    

Comprehensive loss    
Exercise of stock options 188,306 188  
Appropriation of additional paid-in capital    

Balance, December 31, 2001 88,191,322 88,191  
Other comprehensive loss:    

Net loss    
Foreign currency translation adjustments    
Unrealized gain (loss) on available--sale security, net    

Comprehensive loss    
Exercise of stock options 6,678 7  
Private placement of common stock, net 8,334,000 8,334  
Allocation of par value resulting from reverse stock split (77,225,600) (77,226)  
Appropriation of additional paid-in capital    

Balance, December 31, 2002 19,306,400 19,306  
Other comprehensive loss:    

Net loss    
Foreign currency translation adjustments    
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale security, net    

Comprehensive loss    
Conversion of common stock of subsidiary to common stock
of parent, net of share amounts not converted 2,499,999 2,500  
Conversion of preferred stock of subsidiary to common stock
of parent, net of share amounts not converted 228,900 229  

Balance, December 31, 2003 22,035,299 22,035  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other Compre-

hensive Income

Total
Shareholders’

Equity
 168,585 (84,329) 1,709 173,969

     
  (131,798)  (131,798)
   837 837

   348 348
    (130,613)

 330   518
 (155,495) 155,495   
 13,420 (60,632) 2,894 43,874

     
  (27,555)  (27,555)
   157 157

   (109) (109)
    (27,507)
 (3)   4

 1,667   10,001
 77,226    

 (92,310) 92,310   
 0 4,124 2,942 26,372
     
  (18,640)  (18,640)
   (83) (83)

   189 189
    (18,534)

- (2,500)   

- (229)   
 0 (17,245) 3,048 7,838
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    Organization and Operations of the Company 

The Company
Intershop (Intershop Communications AG together with its subsidiaries and predecessors; 
hereinafter referred to as the “Company,” “Intershop,” or the “Group”) is a provider of stan-
dardized, end-to-end e-commerce software for enterprise clients. The Company’s products 
offer basic e-commerce functionality and state-of-the-art features such as intelligent mer-
chandising, electronic workflow management, and channel integration systems. Inter-
shop’s core Enfinity technology is designed to support a large number of online commerce 
models: industry-specific business models for the automobile industry (Automotive), for the 
high-tech sector and manufacturing industry (High-Tech and Manufacturing), and for trade 
(Retail), as well as cross-industry solutions for business-to-business models (B2B), busi-
ness-to-consumer models (B2C), online procurement solutions (Online Procurement), and 
centralized content management systems (Content Management). Intershop's software 
easily integrates into a company's existing infrastructures, enabling seamless transactions 
between suppliers, distributors, and customers along the value chain.
 
Alongside these specific e-commerce solutions, Intershop also offers Enfinity MultiSite, its 
latest platform based on Enfinity technology.  Enfinity MultiSite enables enterprises to 
deploy and centrally manage multiple online commerce initiatives across different business 
units from a single platform, thus minimizing the implementation and operating costs of e-
commerce solutions. Enfinity MultiSite allows enterprises to pursue a Unified Commerce 
Management (UCM) strategy, with which they can centrally manage multiple online chan-
nels and web content simultaneously. These systems focus on integrating all e-commerce 
processes across disparate countries, markets, business units, applications, and systems.
 
The Company also offers its customers support, professional consulting services, and edu-
cation services in relation to its software products.
 
Share swap agreement
In December 1996, Intershop Communications, Inc. (“US, Inc.”) entered into a share swap 
agreement with Intershop Communications GmbH (“GmbH”) to acquire 100% of GmbH's 
outstanding shares. The shareholders of GmbH's common shares received common shares 
in US, Inc. Holders of existing debt (approximately €1.1 million) and capital (approximately 
€200,000) in GmbH – approximately €1.4 million in total – received 6,720,000 shares of 
preferred stock in US, Inc. The fair value of the preferred stock issued was equal to the car-
rying amount of the debt and capital for which it was exchanged. The share swap did not 
alter the relative ownership interest of the parent company. Upon completion of the trans-
action, US, Inc. became the parent company of GmbH and its subsidiaries.
 
On June 23, 1998, the holders of 79.26% of the shareholders’ equity of US, Inc. exchanged 
their shares of preferred and common stock of US, Inc. (20,591,348 in total) for 
61,729,050 shares of the Company. As a result of this transaction, US, Inc. became a 
majority-owned subsidiary of the Company. Conversions of US, Inc. shares into AG shares 
subsequent to the initial conversion in June 1998 are treated as an increase in the stated 
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value of the common stock and a corresponding decrease in the capital surplus. During 
1999, the two stockholders converted 744,500 common shares of US, Inc. into 2,233,500 
shares of the Company. During 2000, these stockholders converted 93,333 common 
shares of US, Inc. into 280,000 shares of the Company. During calendar years 2001 and 
2002, these stockholders did not convert any shares of US, Inc. into shares of the Com-
pany. On June 18, 2003, Intershop confirmed that the share swap announced on January 
23, 2002, under which the CEO and co-founder Stephan Schambach exchanged his shares 
in subsidiary Intershop Communications, Inc. for common bearer shares in the parent Com-
pany, Intershop Communications AG, had been completed. Under the transaction, Mr. 
Schambach exchanged his 4,166,665 shares in Intershop Communications, Inc., the U.S. 
subsidiary majority-owned by Intershop Communications AG, for 2,499,999 common 
bearer shares of Intershop Communications AG. Similarly, on June 17, 2003, Burgess 
Jamieson, a member of the Supervisory Board of Intershop Communications AG, 
exchanged his 381,500 shares in Intershop Communications, Inc. for 228,900 new com-
mon bearer shares of Intershop Communications AG on the basis of an existing exchange 
option. The transaction by Mr. Schambach increased the number of shares of Intershop 
Communications AG that have been issued by 12.8%, from 19,535,300 before the imple-
mentation of the share swap to 22,035,299 afterwards.
 
Going Concern
As of December 31, 2003, the Company had cash and cash equivalents (including 
restricted cash) of EUR 8.8 million, compared with EUR 22.5 million as of December 31, 
2002.  The Company has incurred significant operating losses since inception, and had an 
accumulated deficit of EUR 266.4 million (prior to the appropriation of the additional paid-
in capital of EUR 247.8 million) as of December 31, 2002.  The Company does not expect 
to achieve sufficient revenues to support future operations without additional financing.  
These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a 
going concern.  The financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company 
will continue as a going concern and, accordingly, do not include any adjustments to 
reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the 
amounts and classification of liabilities that may result from the outcome of this uncer-
tainty.
 
The Company has developed a business plan to address its operational needs in the 
future.  This plan includes further headcount and other cost reductions, and obtaining addi-
tional future financing. Management believes that its business plan is appropriate for the 
Company to secure adequate financing until the Company is operating profitably.  Manage-
ment also believes additional financing and current operations will be sufficient to allow 
the Company to continue as a going concern at least through 2004. Should revenues not 
materialize and expenses decrease to planned levels, or additional equity financing be 
unavailable to the Company, management will restrict certain of the Company's planned 
activities and operations, as necessary, to sustain operations and conserve cash resources.
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    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The accompanying financial statements reflect the application of certain significant 
accounting policies as described in this note and elsewhere in the accompanying notes.
 
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements reflect the consolidated results of the Company and 
its wholly- and majority-owned subsidiaries, and have been prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”). All significant 
intercompany transactions and balances between the consolidated companies have been 
eliminated.
 
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial state-
ments and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currency for the Company and its subsidiaries is the local currency of the 
country in which the subsidiary is located. In accordance with Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation,” assets and liabili-
ties of operations outside euro-denominated countries are translated into euros using 
exchange rates at the end of each reporting period. Revenues and expenses are translated 
at the average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Cumulative translation gains 
and losses are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income as a separate compo-
nent of shareholders' equity.
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the date 
of each transaction. Differences in exchange rates during the period between the date a 
transaction denominated in a foreign currency is consummated and the date at which it is 
either settled or translated are recognized in the statement of operations and are shown in 
“other income (expense), net.” Currency gains and losses were  €(241,460) in 2001,  
€59,073 in 2002 and € 51,025 in 2003.
 
Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all investments with original maturities of 90 days or less to be 
cash equivalents.
 
Marketable Securities
In accordance with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity 
Securities,” the Company classifies its investments in readily marketable debt and equity 
securities as available-for-sale securities. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair 
value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported in accumulated other com-
prehensive income as a separate component of shareholders’ equity. The amortized cost of 
debt securities in this category is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of 
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discounts to maturity computed under the effective interest method. Such amortization is 
included in investment income. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to 
be other than temporary on available-for-sale securities are included in investment income. 
The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. Interest and divi-
dends on securities classified as available for sale are included in investment income.
 
Investments
Investments without readily available market value, which contain less than a twenty per-
cent ownership and where the Company cannot exercise significant influence, are 
accounted for under the cost method. Declines in value judged to be other than temporary 
on investments are included in investment income.
 
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk 
consist primarily of accounts receivable. The Company performs ongoing credit checks on 
its customers and the risk with respect to trade receivables is further mitigated by the fact 
that the Company's customer base is diversified. Beyond this, the Company does not 
require collaterals from its customers.
 
In 2003, customer A accounted for 16.6% of total revenue and was responsible for 13.6% 
of trade receivables. Customer B accounted for 15% of total revenue and was responsible 
for 13.8% of trade receivables as of December 31, 2003. In 2002, customer A accounted 
for 23.4% of total revenue and was responsible for 14.3% of trade receivables as of Decem-
ber 31, 2002. In 2001, no single customer accounted for 10% or more of total revenue.
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of the Company's financial instruments, including cash, and cash 
equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable, approximate their 
fair values. Marketable securities designated as available for sale are recorded at market 
value.
 
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally ranging from three to 
five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter 
of the lease terms or their estimated useful lives.
 
Software Development Costs
The Company accounts for internally generated software development costs in accordance 
with SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or 
Otherwise Marketed.” Capitalization of software development costs begins upon the estab-
lishment of technological feasibility of the product, which the Company defines as the 
development of a working model and further defines as the completion of beta testing of 
the software. The establishment of technological feasibility and the ongoing assessment of 
the recoverability of these costs requires considerable judgment by management with 

33

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



respect to certain external factors, including but not limited to, anticipated future product 
revenue, estimated economic life, and changes in technology. Such costs are reported at 
the lower of amortized cost or net realizable value. To date, internal software development 
costs that were eligible for capitalization have not been significant, and the Company has 
charged all software development costs to research and development expense as incurred.
 
The Company expenses all research and development costs as incurred.
 
Long-Lived Assets
Prior to 2002, the Company periodically evaluated the recoverability of the carrying 
amounts of its long-lived assets and any attributable goodwill in accordance with SFAS No. 
121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be 
Disposed of.” Whenever events or changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying 
amounts of such assets may have not be recoverable, the Company compared estimated 
future undiscounted free cash flows from operating activities for these assets to their carry-
ing amounts. When these undiscounted cash flows were less than the carrying amounts of 
the assets, the Company would record impairment losses to write the asset down to fair 
value, as measured by the discounted estimated net future cash flows expected to be gen-
erated from the assets. 
 
In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Dis-
posal of Long-Lived Assets.” SFAS No. 144 establishes a single accounting model for long-
lived assets to be disposed of by sale consistent with the fundamental provisions of SFAS 
No. 121. While it supersedes portions of APB Opinion 30, “Reporting the Results of Opera-
tions--Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, 
Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions,” it retains the discontinued 
operations presentation, yet it broadens that presentation to include a component of an 
entity (rather than a segment of a business). However, discontinued operations are no 
longer recorded at net realizable value and future operating losses are no longer recog-
nized before they occur. Under SFAS No. 144, it is no longer necessary to allocate goodwill 
to long-lived assets and then perform impairment testing. Furthermore, it has been stipu-
lated that in situations where it is expected that certain flows of capital will be accumu-
lated in areas subject to impairment testing, these can be calculated on the basis of a prob-
ability-weighted cash flow estimate. SFAS No. 144 also establishes criteria for determining 
when an asset should be treated as held for sale.
 
SFAS No. 144 was effective for the fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. 
Accordingly, the Company adopted SFAS No. 144 as of January 1, 2002. The adoption of 
SFAS No. 144 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results 
of operations, or cash flows.
 
Goodwill
Until December 31, 2001, the Company periodically assessed the impairment of enterprise 
level goodwill in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion 
No. 17, “Intangible Assets,” and Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 100, “Restructuring and 
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Impairment Charges.” An impairment review was performed whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicated that the carrying amount might not be amortizable. Indicators 
the Company considered important, which could have triggered an impairment, included 
but were not limited to significant underperformance relative to historical or projected 
future operating results, significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or 
in the strategy for the Company's overall business, significant negative industry or eco-
nomic trends, a significant decline in the Company's stock price for a sustained period, 
and the Company's market capitalization relative to net book value. Whenever the Com-
pany determined that the carrying amount of goodwill or other intangible assets might not 
be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators of impair-
ment, it measured any impairment based on a projected future discounted free cash flow 
from operating activities. During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company 
recorded impairment losses with respect to goodwill in the amount of €12.0 million.
 
Since the beginning of 2002, the Company has adopted the accounting standard SFAS No. 
142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which was published in June 2001. Under 
SFAS No. 142, goodwill will no longer be amortized but will be tested for impairment on an 
annual basis and whenever indicators of impairment arise. The Company identified indica-
tors of impairment under SFAS No. 142 to be the same as under SAB No. 100, as listed 
previously. The goodwill impairment test, which is based on fair value, is to be performed 
on a reporting unit level. A reporting unit is defined by SFAS No. 131 as an operating seg-
ment or one level lower. The Company markets its products and services in one segment 
and thus allocates goodwill to one reporting unit. Therefore, impairment is tested at the 
enterprise level using the Company’s market capitalization as fair value. Goodwill will no 
longer be allocated to other long-lived assets for impairment testing in accordance with 
SFAS No. 121.
 
Derivatives
Since January 1, 2001, the Company has applied SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative 
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” which establishes accounting and reporting standards 
for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other con-
tracts or used in hedging activities. All derivatives, whether designated in hedging relation-
ships or not, are required to be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. If the derivative 
is designated as a fair value hedge, the changes in fair value of the derivative and of the 
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in earnings. If the derivative is 
designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portions of changes in the fair value of the 
derivative are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income and are recognized in 
the income statement when the hedged item affects earnings.
 
Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses of €3.2 million, €0.5 mil-
lion, and €0.3 million were included in sales and marketing expenses for 2001, 2002, and 
2003, respectively.
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Stock-Based Compensation
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation,” in October 1995. This accounting standard permits the use 
of either a fair value based method of accounting or the method defined in Accounting Prin-
ciples Board Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”), to 
account for stock-based compensation arrangements. The Company has elected to con-
tinue to account for its stock-based compensation arrangements under the provisions of 
APB 25, and, accordingly, has included in Note 12 the pro forma disclosures required 
under SFAS No. 123. If compensation cost for the Plan had been determined based on the 
fair value at the grant dates for the awards calculated in accordance with the method pre-
scribed by SFAS No. 123, the impact on the Company's net loss and net loss per share 
would have been as follows (in thousands of €, except per-share amounts):

Year ended December 31, 2001 2002 2003
Net loss attributable to common shareholders    

As reported (131,798) (27,555) (18,640)
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under 
fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects (55,751) (11,271) (259)
Pro forma (187,549) (38,826) (18,899)

Basic and diluted loss per share    
As reported (7.48) (1.47) (0.90)
Pro forma (10.64) (2.07) (0.91)

The following assumptions have been made to estimate the fair value of the options:

 2001 2002 2003
Risk-free interest on the date of grant 4.5% 4.0% 3.0%
Assumed dividend 0% 0% 0%
Volatility 115% 92% 107%
Expected option lives (in years) 4.1 4.1 3.7
 
Revenue Recognition
Intershop derives revenues from two primary sources: (1) software license revenues and 
(2) services revenues, which include maintenance, consulting, and education. While the 
basis for software license revenue recognition is substantially governed by the provisions 
of Statement of Position No. 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as amended by SOP 
98-4 and SOP 98-9 and related Interpretations (collectively, “SOP 97-2”) issued by the 
Accounting Standards Executive Committee of the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants, the Company exercises judgment and uses estimates in connection with the 
determination of the amount of software license and services revenues to be recognized in 
each accounting period.
 
For software license arrangements that do not require significant modification or cus-
tomization of the underlying software, the Company recognizes revenue when: (1) it enters 
into a legally binding arrangement with a customer for the license of software; (2) it deliv-
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ers the products or performs the services; (3) customer payment is deemed fixed or deter-
minable and free of contingencies or significant uncertainties; and, (4) collection is proba-
ble. Substantially, all of the Company’s license revenues are recognized in this manner.
 
Some of the Company’s software arrangements include implementation services sold sepa-
rately under consulting engagement contracts. Revenues from these arrangements are gen-
erally accounted for separately from the license revenue because the arrangements qualify 
as “service transactions,” as defined in SOP 97-2. The more significant factors considered 
in determining whether the revenue should be accounted for separately include the nature 
of services (i.e., consideration of whether the services are essential to the functionality of 
the licensed product), degree of risk, availability of services from other vendors, timing of 
payments, and impact of milestones or acceptance criteria on the realizability of the soft-
ware license fee.
 
If an arrangement does not qualify for separate accounting of the license and service trans-
actions, then license revenue is generally recognized together with the consulting services 
based on contract accounting using either the percentage-of-completion or completed-con-
tract method as described below. Contract accounting is also applied to any arrangements: 
(1) that include milestones or customer-specific acceptance criteria, which may affect col-
lection of the license fees; (2) where services include significant modification or customiza-
tion of the software; (3) where significant consulting services are provided for in the con-
tract without additional charges; or, (4) where the license payment is tied to the perfor-
mance of consulting services.
 
For arrangements with multiple elements, the Company allocates revenue to each element 
of a transaction based upon its fair value as determined in reliance on “vendor-specific 
objective evidence” (VSOE). Vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value for all ele-
ments of an arrangement is based upon the normal pricing and discounting practices for 
those products and services when sold separately and, for support services, is additionally 
measured by the renewal rate. If the Company cannot objectively determine the fair value 
of any undelivered element included in bundled software and service arrangements, it 
defers revenue until all elements are delivered, services have been performed, or until fair 
value can objectively be determined. When VSOE of a license or other delivered element 
has not been established, the Company uses the residual method to record license rev-
enue if VSOE of all undelivered elements is determinable. Under the residual method, 
VSOE of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the arrange-
ment fee is allocated to the delivered elements and is recognized as revenue.
 
Intershop’s license arrangements generally do not include acceptance provisions. How-
ever, if acceptance provisions exist within previously executed terms and conditions that 
are referenced in the current agreement, the Company then applies judgment in assessing 
the significance of the provision. If the Company determines that the likelihood of non-
acceptance of these arrangements is remote, it then recognizes revenue once all of the cri-
teria described above have been met. If such a determination cannot be made, revenue is 
recognized upon the earlier of receipt of written customer acceptance or expiration of the 
acceptance period.
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 Intershop assesses whether fees are fixed or determinable at the time of sale and recog-
nizes revenue if all other revenue recognition requirements are met. The Company’s stan-
dard payment terms are net 30 days; however, terms may vary based on the country in 
which the agreement is executed. Payments that extend beyond the country’s standard 
payment terms are generally deemed not to be fixed or determinable, and thereby do not 
satisfy the required criteria for revenue recognition. Revenues for these agreements are 
deferred and recognized upon cash payment by the customer.
 
Revenue for consulting services is generally recognized as the services are performed. If 
there is a significant uncertainty about the project completion or receipt of payment for the 
consulting services, revenue is deferred until the uncertainty is sufficiently resolved.
 
The Company estimates the percentage of completion on contracts with fixed or “not to 
exceed” fees on a monthly basis, utilizing hours incurred to date as a percentage of total 
estimated hours to complete the project. If Intershop does not have a sufficient basis to 
measure progress towards completion, revenue is recognized when the Company receives 
final acceptance from the customer. When total cost estimates exceed revenues, Intershop 
accrues for the estimated losses immediately based upon an average fully burdened daily 
rate applicable to the consulting organization delivering the services.
 
The complexity of the estimation process and issues related to the assumptions, risks, and 
uncertainties inherent in the application of the percentage-of-completion method of 
accounting affect the amounts of revenues and related expenses reported in the Com-
pany’s consolidated financial statements. A number of internal and external factors can 
affect Intershop’s estimates, including labor rates, utilization and efficiency variances, and 
specification and testing requirement changes.
 
Allowances for Doubtful Accounts
The Company makes judgments as to its ability to collect outstanding receivables and 
provide allowances for the portion of receivables when collection becomes doubtful. Provi-
sions are made based upon a specific review of all significant outstanding invoices. For 
those invoices not specifically reviewed, provisions are provided at differing rates, based 
upon the age of the receivable. In determining these percentages, Intershop analyzes its 
historical collection experience and current economic trends. If the historical data the Com-
pany uses to calculate the allowance provided for doubtful accounts does not reflect the 
future ability to collect outstanding receivables, additional provisions for doubtful accounts 
may be needed and the future results of operations could be materially affected.
 
Segment Reporting
The Company’s primary line of business is the production and marketing of e-commerce 
software that enables customers to automate and simplify their purchasing and sales pro-
cesses, and to consolidate and manage all their sales and procurement channels from a 
central platform. Accordingly, the Company does not disclose significant additional seg-
ment information as defined by SFAS No. 131.
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Comprehensive Income
The Company accounts for comprehensive income in accordance with SFAS No. 130, 
“Reporting Comprehensive Income.” Comprehensive income is the total of net income and 
all other changes in shareholders' equity that are not connected with changes at share-
holder level.

Accumulated other comprehensive income consists of the following (in thousands of €):

At December 31, 2002 2003
Foreign currency translation gains 3,132 3,048
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities (190) -
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,942 3,048
 
Income Taxes
The Company uses the asset and liability method in accounting for income taxes in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Under this method, deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws 
which will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.
 
Earnings Per Share
The basic net loss per common share is presented in conformity with SFAS No. 128, “Earn-
ings Per Shares” for all periods presented. Basic net loss per share is computed using the 
weighted-average number of vested outstanding shares of common stock.
 
The diluted net loss per share is computed using the weighted-average number of vested 
shares of common stock outstanding and, in the case of dilution, the unvested common 
stock outstanding and the potential number of common shares from options and warrants 
to purchase common stock using the treasury stock method. In the case of convertible 
securities the “if-converted method” is used. The options exercised that result in shares 
subject to repurchase have been excluded in computing the number of weighted-average 
shares outstanding for basic earnings per share purposes. All potential common shares 
have been excluded from the computation of the diluted net loss per share for 2001, 2002, 
and 2003 because the effect would be antidilutive.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in 
calculating basic and diluted earnings per share for the three years ended December 31 
respectively (in thousands of €, except per-share data):

Year ended December 31, 2001 2002 2003
Net loss (131,798) (27,555) (18,640)
Basic and diluted net loss per share:    
Weighted-average common shares 
outstanding 17,627 18,731 20,749
Basic and diluted net loss per share (7.48) (1.47) (0.90)
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 Due to the share swap involving shares of US, Inc. and the AG detailed in Note 1, the 
weighted-average number of common shares increased by 1,442,325 in the year under 
review. 
 
The net loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2001 has been adjusted to reflect 
the Company’s 5:1 reverse stock split during 2002. Share amounts in the consolidated 
statement of changes of shareholders' equity for the year ended December 31, 2001 have 
not been adjusted to reflect this reverse stock split.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obliga-
tions.” SFAS No. 143 requires companies to record an appropriate charge in connection 
with the retirement or disposal of property and equipment in the period in which this took 
place, provided that the fair value can be reasonably determined. The costs incurred in the 
retirement or disposal of assets are netted against the carrying amount of the long-lived 
assets. Companies will calculate the changes over time in the amount of the anticipated 
expenses to be incurred for the retirement or disposal of an asset by discounting the 
amount calculated at the beginning of the period. The interest rate used in the calculation 
of this change corresponds to the risk-adjusted rate to be fixed in accordance with the 
company’s credit rating the first time the expenses are recognized. The carrying amount of 
the related property and equipment increases by the amount calculated, which is then writ-
ten down over the objects’ remaining useful lives and recorded as operating expenses in 
the income statement. SFAS No. 143 is effective for the fiscal years beginning after 
June 15, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 did not have a material effect on it´s the 
Company´s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
 
In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145 “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 
and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections.”  Effective for 
fiscal year 2003, under SFAS No. 145, gains and losses on extinguishments of debt will be 
required to be classified as income or loss from continuing operations rather than as 
extraordinary items as previously required under Statement 4.  Extraordinary treatment will 
be required for certain extinguishments as provided in APB Opinion No. 30.  All other provi-
sions for SFSA No. 145 became effective for transactions occurring after May 15, 2002.  
Statement 145 also amends Statement 13 to require certain modifications to capital 
leases be treated as a sale-leaseback and modifies the accounting for sub-leases when the 
original lessee remains a secondary obligor (or guarantor).  In addition, the FASB rescinded 
Statement 44, which addressed the accounting for intangible assets of motor carriers and 
made numerous technical corrections. The adoption of SFAS No. 145 did not have a mate-
rial impact on the Company’s Group’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
 
In June 2002, the FASB published SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with 
Exit or Disposal Activities.” This statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for 
costs associated with exit or disposal activities and supersedes the preliminary provisions 
of the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain 
Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs 
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Incurred in a Restructuring).” This statement requires that a liability for a cost associated 
with an exit or disposal activity must be recognized when the liability is incurred. Under 
Issue 94-3, the liability for an exit cost was recognized as the date of an entity’s commit-
ment to a concrete exit or disposal plan. The new standard holds that a company’s commit-
ment to a plan does not represent a direct obligation to another party that would be 
defined as a liability. SFAS No. 146 therefore rescinds the definitions and requirements for 
the accounting of exit costs contained in Issue 94-3 until a liability is actually incurred and 
stipulates that the amount of the liability be initially measured at the current fair value. 
However, this standard does not apply to expenses arising in connection with the retire-
ment of activities in divisions acquired by way of a combination or covered by SFAS No. 
144. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 146 to have a material 
adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
 
In May 2003, the FASB published SFAS No. 150 “Accounting for Certain Financial Instru-
ments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity”. The Standard describes how the 
issuer classifies and measures such financial instruments. The financial instruments that 
are within the scope of this Standard must therefore be classified as liabilities (or assets in 
some circumstances) because these financial instruments embody an obligation of the 
issuer. SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments issued or modified after March 
31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning 
after June 15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have any material effect on the 
Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. 
 
In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), “Guarantor’s 
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of 
Indebtedness of Others.” FIN 45 requires a guarantor to recognize, at the inception of a 
guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken by it in issuing the guar-
antee. It also expands the disclosure requirements in the financial statements of the guar-
antor with respect to its obligations under certain guarantees that it has issued. The Com-
pany is required to adopt the initial recognition and initial measurement accounting provi-
sions of this interpretation on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after 
December 31, 2002. The Company does not anticipate the adoption to have a material 
effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
 
In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretations No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of 
Variable Interest Entities.” This interpretation clarifies the application of Accounting 
Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” to certain entities in which 
equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not 
have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subor-
dinated financial support from other parties. FIN 46 is effective February 1, 2003 for vari-
able interest entities created after January 31, 2003, and July 31, 2003 for variable interest 
entities created prior to February 1, 2003. The Company does not anticipate the adoption 
of FIN 46 to have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations, or cash 
flows.
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At the November 21, 2002 EITF meeting, the Task Force reached a consensus that cash 
consideration received by a customer from a vendor is presumed to be a reduction of the 
prices of the vendor’s products or services and should, therefore, be characterized as a 
reduction of cost of sales when recognized in the customer’s income statement. That pre-
sumption is overcome when the consideration is either (a) a reimbursement of costs 
incurred by the customer to sell the vendor’s products, in which case the cash considera-
tion should be characterized as a reduction of that cost when recognized in the customer’s 
income statement, or (b) a payment for assets or services delivered to the vendor, in which 
case the cash consideration should be characterized as revenue when recognized in the 
customer’s income statement. The Task Force also reached a consensus that a rebate or 
refund of a specified amount of cash consideration that is payable only if the customer 
completes a specified cumulative level of purchases or remains a customer for a specified 
time period should be recognized as a reduction of the cost of sales based on a systematic 
and rational allocation of the cash consideration offered to each of the underlying transac-
tions that results in progress by the customer toward earning the rebate or refund, pro-
vided the amounts are reasonably estimable. The Copmany does not expect the adoption 
of EITF 02-16 to have a material effect on it’s financial position, results of operations, or 
cash flows.
 
At the July 31, 2003 meeting, the ETIF discussed whether non-software deliverables (e.g., 
non-software related equipment or services) included in an arrangement that contains soft-
ware that is more than incidental to the products or services as a whole are included within 
the scope of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition”. The Task 
Force reached the following consensus: In an arrangement that includes software that is 
more than incidental to the products or services as a whole, software and software-related 
elements are included within the scope of SOP 97-2. Software-related elements include 
software-products and services such as those listed in paragraph 9 of SOP 97-2 (examples 
of software deliverables include software products, upgrades/enhancements, postcontract 
customer support, and services) as well as any non-software deliverable(s) for which a soft-
ware deliverable is essential to its functionality. For example, in an arrangement that 
includes software, computer hardware that will contain the software, and additional unre-
lated equipment, if the software is essential to the functionality of the hardware, the hard-
ware would be considered software-related and, therefore, included within the scope of 
SOP 97-2. However, because the software is not essential to the functionality of the unre-
lated equipment, the equipment would not be considered software-related and would, 
therefore, be excluded from the scope of SOP 97-2. The Task Force agreed that the consen-
sus in Issue 03-5 should be applied to arrangements entered into in the first reporting 
period (annual or interim) beginning after the date of Board ratification of the consensus, 
which was August 13, 2003. The Company does not anticipate the adoption to have a 
material effect on the Company’s financial position, or results of operations, or cash flows.
 
In December 2003, the Securities & Exchange Commission (“SEC”) published Staff 
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 104, “Revenue Recognition.”  This SAB updates portions of 
the SEC staff’s interpretive guidance provided in SAB 101 and included in Topic 13 of the 
Codification of Staff Accounting Bulletins.  SAB 104 deletes interpretative material no 
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longer necessary, and conforms the interpretive material retained, because of pronounce-
ments issued by the FASB’s EITF on various revenue recognition topics, including EITF 00-
21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.”  SAB 104 also incorporates into 
the SAB Codification certain sections of the SEC staff’s “Revenue Recognition in Financial 
Statements – Frequently Asked Questions and Answers.”  To the extent not incorporated 
into the SAB codification, the SEC staff’s FAQ on SAB 101 (Topic 13) has been rescinded.  
The adoption of SAB 104 will not have a material effect on the Group’s financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows.

    Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 

At December 31, 2002 and 2003, prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of 
the following (in thousands of €):

As of December 31, 2002 2003
VAT and other tax receivables 5,224 453
Pre-payments 1,410 479
Unbilled receivables 261 37
Receivables from employees 72 49
Other 460 352
Total 7,427 1,370

The Company recorded a doubtful debt allowance of €1.2 million and €0.9 million against 
receivables due from employees in the fiscal years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003 
respectively.

    Property and Equipment 

At December 2002 and 2003, property and equipment consisted of the following (in thou-
sands of €):

 2002 Currency Additions Disposals Impairment 2003
Computer equipment 19,547 (1,121) 247 (1,398) (64) 17,211
Furniture and fixtures 3,592 (150) 67 (427) (24) 3,058
Leasehold improvements 1,271 (121) 54 (59) - 1,145
Subtotal 24,410 (1,392) 368 (1,884) (88) 21,414
Accumulated depreciation (20,109) 1,189 (3,093) 1,706  (20,308)
Property and equipment, net 4,301     1,106

The impairment relates to assets held in the UK and Scandinavia, where the operations 
have been transferred to independent distributors.
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    Investments 

During 1998 and 1999, the Company made investments in a non-public company in Israel 
totaling €0.5 million and €1.2 million, respectively. The total investment of €1.7 million in 
this entity represented an ownership interest of approximately 6% at that time. Due to the 
difficult economic climate and the financial condition and performance of this non-public 
company, the Company wrote down the whole value of this investment in the fiscal year 
2001. This resulted in a non-operational charge of €1.7 million to the statement of opera-
tions for the year ended December 31, 2001.

    Marketable Securities 

Investments in debt and marketable equity securities are categorized as available for sale 
and are stated at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of deferred income taxes, 
and reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income.
 
In 1999, the Company acquired approximately €1.5 million of common stock in a public 
company in the United Kingdom. This investment was classified as an available-for-sale 
security and recorded at fair value. In June 2001, the Company determined that the decline 
in fair value of this investment was other-than-temporary in nature and recorded a write-
down of €0.7 million on this investment. In October 2001, the Company sold this invest-
ment for €0.9 million. The related gain of €0.1 million is included in other income.
 
As of December 31, 2002, available-for-sale securities consisted of the following (in thou-
sands of €):

 

Cost

Gross
unrealized

gains

Gross
unrealized

losses

Estimated
fair

value
December 31, 2002     

Money market funds  4,171  1 -  4,172
 
The Company did not hold any available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2003.
 
For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002, and 2003, the gross realized gains on 
sales of available-for-sale securities totaled €2,043,838, €46,953, and €39,802, respec-
tively, and the gross realized losses totaled €491,838, €198,745, and €0, respectively. 
The net adjustment to unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities 
included in other comprehensive income totaled €429,417, €80,981, and €189,539 in 
2001, 2002, and 2003 respectively.
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    Changes to the Bases of Consolidation 

Intershop Communications S.a.r.l.

In September 2003, the Company discontinued the funding of operations of its French sub-
sidiary, Intershop Communications S.a.r.l.  The subsidiary sought relief through filing peti-
tions under bankruptcy in France.  Due to a court order as of that date requiring its liquida-
tion and a preliminary receiver being appointed, Intershop Communications S.a.r.l. was 
removed from the consolidation effective October 21, 2003.  Prior to that liquidation order, 
Intershop Communications S.a.r.l. had assets of EUR 0.5 million and liabilities of EUR 3.0 
million.  As a result of the liquidation order, the Company received complete relief from its 
liabilities while surrendering all of its assets.  The Company’s consolidated financial state-
ments contain a gain from the deconsolidation of Intershop Communications S.a.r.l. of EUR 
2.5 million.  This gain has been recorded in other income in the statement of operations for 
the year ended December 31, 2003.

The following information has been prepared for better comparability of the statement of 
operations for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.  These are the effects from 
the results of operations and deconsolidation of the subsidiary (in thousands of €):

 

2002
including

Subsidiary
2002

Subsidiary

2002
excluding

Subsidiary
Sales 45,097 1,434 43,663
Operating loss (28,679) (1,491) (27,188)
Net loss (27,555) (1,571) (25,984)

    Goodwill 

 Goodwill consisted of the following (in thousands of €):

 2002 2003
Goodwill 4,473 4,473
 
In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” and SFAS No. 
142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” The Company implemented these new 
accounting standards on a transitional basis for 2002. Under the new rules, an assembled 
workforce is no longer considered an intangible asset. Accordingly, the carrying value of 
the Company’s assembled workforce, €0.2 million, was reclassified as goodwill on January 
1, 2002.
 
In accordance with the rules for transition to SFAS No. 142, the Company recorded no fur-
ther scheduled goodwill amortization after January 1, 2002. The Company performs an 
impairment test once a year, or whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that 
indicate the carrying amount might be impaired. The annual impairment test will be carried 
at the end of each fiscal year (December 31).
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 The initial impairment test must be carried out on the date the new accounting rules are 
adopted. Exceptional amortization resulting from the transitional impairment test must be 
recorded separately from the operating results, as a “cumulative effect arising from the 
adoption of new accounting principles.” The goodwill impairment test is performed in two 
steps. The first step involves determining the fair value for each reporting unit. If the fair 
value of a reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of its net assets, no exceptional good-
will amortization is necessary. If the fair value is lower than the carrying value, the fair 
value of all the unit’s balance sheet assets and liabilities, as well as the identifiable intangi-
ble assets, excluding goodwill, must be determined for the valuation date. The excess fair 
value over the amount allocated to the assets and liabilities of a reporting unit is the 
implied fair value of goodwill. If the implied fair value of goodwill is lower than the carrying 
value of the goodwill, an amortization charge must be recorded to reflect the reduced fair 
value.
 
In applying SFAS No. 142, the Company has defined the Intershop Group as a single report-
ing unit, since the Group companies outside Germany merely provide sales support for the 
Group companies located in Germany. The directors of the Group companies outside Ger-
many report directly to the Management Board of Intershop Communications AG.
  
The Company’s transitional impairment test, required in the year in which SFAS No. 142 is 
adopted, was performed as of January 1, 2002. The fair value of the reporting unit was 
determined based on the Company’s market capitalization. According to these calcula-
tions, the fair value of the reporting unit exceeded the carrying value of its net assets. 
Accordingly, the additional analysis was not required, and there was no impairment of 
goodwill upon adoption of SFAS No. 142. The Company’s annual impairment test was per-
formed on December 31, 2002 and 2003, based upon the Company’s market capitaliza-
tion. Because the fair value of the reporting unit exceeded its carrying value, the additional 
analysis was not required, and there was no impairment of goodwill at December 31, 2002 
or 2003.

As required by SFAS No. 142, the following table discloses the pro forma net loss for the 
year and the net loss per share for the year in all periods shown in the statement of opera-
tions, adjusted to exclude amortization of goodwill and intangible assets that are no longer 
amortized.

 2001
Reported net loss (131,798)
Goodwill amortizations 20,621
Amortization of intangible assets that are no longer being amortized 
(assembled workforce reclassified as goodwill) 470
Adjusted net loss (110,707)
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Corresponding per-share amounts, basic and diluted (in €):

 2001
Reported consolidated profit/loss before the cumulative effect of a 
change in accounting principles (basic and diluted) (7.48)
Add-back: Goodwill amortization 1.17
Add-back: Amortization of intangible assets that are no longer being 
amortized (assembled workforce reclassified as goodwill) 0.03
Adjusted net profit/net loss for the year per share before the cumulative 
effect of a change in accounting principles (basic and diluted) (6.28)

    Other Accrued Liabilities 

Other accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands of €):

Year ended December 31, 2002 2003
VAT payable 5,149 188
Employee compensation 2,886 1,251
Unvouchered invoices 1,530 970
Accrued legal costs 746 135
Other 3,161 1,283
Total 13,472 3,827

    Restructuring Charges and Asset Impairments 

In the quarter ended March 31, 2002, the Company adopted measures to reduce its work-
force and to consolidate existing facilities, among other things. Other measures included 
the appointment of new management, the creation of a simplified organizational structure, 
and a sales campaign for new products. These steps were aimed at aligning the Company’s 
cost structure with changing market conditions and accelerating its path to profitability. 
The Company completed the majority of these restructuring measures by December 2002.
 
In the third quarter of 2003, the restructuring measures implemented in the previous year 
meant that the Company further reduced its headcount in line with reduced revenue expec-
tations, and transferred the majority of its European sales activities outside Germany to 
local distributors.
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The following table summarizes restructuring charges for the fiscal year 2003 and accrued 
restructuring costs as at December 31, 2003 (in thousands of €):

 Employee-
related charges

Facility-related
charges Other costs Total

Accrued restructuring costs as of
January 1, 2002 183 10,313 157 10,653
Restructuring charges for the year 2,447 2,713 166 5,326
Cash payments (1,944) (5,300) (237) (7,481)
Currency adjustments (68) (845) (4) (917)
Impairment of property and equipment - (2,700) - (2,700)
Accrued restructuring costs as of
December 31, 2002 618 4,181 82 4,881
Restructuring charges for the year 2,236 1,219 33 3,488
Cash payments (2,593) (2,849) (114) (5,556)
Currency adjustments (37) (30) (1) (68)
Impairment of property and equipment - (88) - (88)
Accrued restructuring costs as of
December 31, 2003 224 2,433 0 2,657

 
The above costs are broken down as follows:
 
Employee-Related Charges

As of December 31, 2002, Intershop employed 479 full-time equivalents worldwide. Follow-
ing the completion of the previous year’s restructuring measures in the first quarter of 
2003 and further cost reductions beginning in the third quarter of 2003, the number of 
employees fell by a further 201 full-time equivalents. In 2003, this related to 187 full-time 
employees in Europe and 20 in the Americas. Employee reductions affected all functional 
departments, with 52 full-time employees affected in services, 30 full-time employees in 
general and administrative functions, 90 full-time employees in sales, 26 full-time employ-
ees in marketing, and 4 full-time employees in research and development. Headcount 
reductions occurred in all employee groups within each function.
 
As of December 31, 2003, the Group employed 278 full-time equivalents.
 
The accruals for employee-related charges mainly comprise expected future payments 
relating to the termination of contracts, including severance payments, payroll taxes, and 
legal costs.
 
Facility-Related Charges

In the fiscal year 2003, the Intershop Group recorded restructuring costs of approximately 
€1.2 million in connection with the consolidation of existing facilities, which principally 
relate to probable future payments for existing lease commitments for property no longer 
in use, net of sublease income. The determination of the related accrual is based on 
assumptions with regards to the period during which vacant spaces cannot be sublet. This 
period varies between six and twelve months.
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 The sublease income has been estimated on the basis of the contractual agreements in 
place as of the date the financial statements were prepared.
 
Other Costs

The accruals for other restructuring costs principally relate to various non-cancelable con-
tracts for which there is no future benefit to the Company.
 
Restructuring accruals are calculated on the basis of financial estimates and data available 
as of December 31, 2003. Adjustments to this restructuring reserve will be made in future 
periods, if necessary, based upon actual events and available information at that moment 
in time.

    Commitments and Contingencies 

Operating Leases

Facilities and certain furniture and equipment are leased under operating leases. As of 
December 31, 2003, future minimum annual lease payments were as follows (in thousands 
of €):

Year ending December 31  
2004 4,203
2005 3,885
2006 3,733
2007 3,733
2008 3,733
Subsequent years 16,042
Total 35,329

Rent expense in 2001, 2002, and 2003 amounted to €10.3 million, €4.0 million, and 
€3.0 million, respectively. Rent expense for 2003, 2002, and 2001 excludes any facility-
related restructuring costs discussed in Note 9.  Rental income of €0.2 million and 
€1.4 million was received in 2002 and 2003, respectively and offsets rent expense. There 
was no rental income in 2001. The future rental income secured by contract as of Decem-
ber 31, 2003 totaled €2.4 million.
 
A bank issued a guarantee to cover the lease payments on leased property in Jena, Ger-
many, should the Company fail to fulfill its obligations under the lease agreement. This 
cash account has been placed in a restricted account. The level of restricted cash will 
decrease over the term of the lease. The lease has been contracted for until November 
2013. The restricted cash will be released by 10% of the original amount every year, begin-
ning October 10, 2003.
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Legal Matters

The Company is a defendant in various legal matters arising in the normal course of busi-
ness. It is possible that an adverse ruling in any such matter individually, or some or all of 
the matters collectively, may have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations. 
The Company expenses legal costs associated with loss contingency as such legal costs 
are incurred.
 
The Company is a defendant in a consolidated class-action lawsuit in the United States and 
an investigation by the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (Bundesanstalt für 
Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht, BAFin; formerly German Federal Supervisory Office for Secu-
rities Trading (Bundesaufsichtsamt für den Wertpapierhandel, BAWe)). At the beginning of 
2001, several securities class-action lawsuits were filed in the U.S. against Intershop Com-
munications AG, Management Board members, certain other officers, and the underwriters 
of the Company's September 2000 public offering. The plaintiffs allege that the defendants 
made material misrepresentations and omissions of material facts concerning the Compa-
ny's business performance. The plaintiffs seek an unspecified amount of damages. The 
Management Board believes there is no merit to these allegations and intends to defend 
itself vigorously. However, there can be no assurance that the Company will prevail in the 
lawsuit, or that the outcome of the lawsuit will not adversely affect the Company's opera-
tions. In Germany, BAFin announced in January 2001 that it had initiated an investigation 
regarding a possible violation of the duty to disclose material information in connection 
with the release on January 2, 2001 of Intershop Communications AG's preliminary results 
for 2000. BAFin handed this case over to the public prosecutor in Hamburg, Germany, who 
initiated an investigation into complaints about stock price manipulations in May 2001.  
The Company is cooperating in full with these investigations and, to the best of the man-
agement’s knowledge, has never previously been the subject of such investigations. The 
Company believes there is no merit to these allegations.
 
In January 2001, a U.S. company filed a suit in the federal district court in Delaware 
against Intershop Communications, Inc., claiming violation of certain patent rights. The 
plaintiff seeks an unspecified amount of compensation for damages based on the alleged 
patent infringements. This case was settled for US$0.5 million on September 24, 2001. As 
part of the settlement, the parties exchanged certain licenses and rights for a limited term 
under their respective United States patents and patent applications, in addition to other 
terms and conditions of the settlement agreement that were not disclosed.
 
In the reporting period, a claim of €5 million regarding the violation of a license agreement 
was legally asserted by another software company. An out-of-court settlement with this 
software company was reached, subject to the approval of the software Company’s stock-
holders. This approval was not granted during the period under review; for this reason, the 
Company has restarted legal proceedings with the aim of having the claim fully dismissed. 
As of December 31, 2003 the court had not issued its ruling.
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    Shareholders' Equity 

Stock Splits and Change in Stated Value
On September 11, 2002, the Management Board of Intershop Communications AG 
announced that the Company’s capital stock had been reduced by 50% and convened a 
Special Stockholders’ Meeting. This meeting on October 30, 2002 approved a simplified 
reduction of capital by way of a 5:1 reverse stock split to offset losses and other impair-
ments. This took effect on its entry in the commercial register on December 12, 2002 and 
was technically implemented at the close of trading on January 17, 2003. The Company’s 
common stock amounted to €19,306,400 on December 31, 2002. 
 
The 5:1 reserve stock split of the Company’s common bearer shares admitted to trading 
was implemented on January 17, 2003 at the close of trading; the first trading date for the 
converted common bearer stock was January 20, 2003.
 
The net loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2001 has been adjusted to reflect 
the Company’s 5:1 reverse stock split during 2002. Share amounts in the consolidated 
statement of changes of shareholders’ equity for the year ended December 31, 2001 have 
not been adjusted to reflect this reverse stock split.
 
Capital Increase in Fiscal Year 2002
On March 12, 2002, the Company's Chief Executive Officer, Stephan Schambach, com-
pleted the purchase of 8,334,000 shares of common stock from the Company at a price of 
€1.20 per share, in a private placement transaction. The capital increase was made from 
authorized capital, and shareholders’ subscription rights were excluded. The transaction 
resulted in total proceeds of approximately €10.0 million to the Company. The purchase 
price per share was based on the XETRA daily closing price at the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange on March 1, 2002, the last trading day prior to the day on which the Company's 
Supervisory Board granted Mr. Schambach the right to purchase the shares.
 
Capital Increase in Fiscal Year 2003
On June 18, 2003, the share swap under which then CEO and co-founder Stephan Scham-
bach exchanged his shares in subsidiary Intershop Communications, Inc. for common 
bearer shares in the parent Company, Intershop Communications AG, was completed. 
Under the transaction, Mr. Schambach exchanged his 4,166,665 shares in Intershop Com-
munications, Inc., the U.S. subsidiary majority-owned by Intershop Communications AG, 
for 2,499,999 common bearer shares of Intershop Communications AG. To this end, Inter-
shop Communications AG issued 2,499,999 new common bearer shares from Conditional 
Capital III.
 
In addition, on June 17, 2003, Burgess Jamieson, a member of the Supervisory Board of 
Intershop Communications AG, exchanged his 381,500 shares in Intershop Communica-
tions, Inc. for 228,900 new common bearer shares of Intershop Communications AG on 
the basis of an existing exchange option. To this end, Intershop Communications AG issued 
228,900 new common bearer shares from Conditional Capital III.
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 As a result of these two transactions, the common stock of Intershop Communications AG 
was increased from Conditional Capital III by a total of €2,728,899 to €22,035,299 in 
2003.
 
American Depositary Receipts (ADRs)
In February 2002, the Company changed the ratio of its American Depositary Receipts  
(ADRs). The ratio of ADRs to underlying Intershop Communications AG common bearer 
shares was changed from two ADRs equaling one common bearer share to one ADR equal-
ing five common bearer shares. With this ratio change, each of Intershop's Nasdaq-listed 
ADRs evidenced ownership of five underlying common bearer shares listed on its primary 
stock exchange, the Prime Standard in Frankfurt, Germany. The ratio change did not affect 
the value of an investor's ADR holdings. Stockholders of Intershop common bearer shares 
did not see any change in the number of shares held. The ratio change was non-dilutive 
and had no impact on Intershop's balance sheet.
 
In connection with the Company’s reverse stock split, a change in the exchange ratio of 
ADRs to the underlying common bearer shares from 1:5 to 1:1 took legal effect on Febru-
ary 6, 2003. This means that since February 6, 2003 each of Intershop Communications 
AG's Nasdaq-listed ADRs evidences ownership of one underlying common bearer share 
listed on the Company’s primary stock exchange, the Prime Standard in Frankfurt.
Intershop’s issued and outstanding ADRs were deregistered with the SEC, refer to Note 17, 
Subsequent events. 
  
1997 Equity Incentive Plan (all data subsequent to 5:1 reverse stock split)
The Company had originally reserved 2,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance to 
employees, directors, and consultants under its 1997 Equity Incentive Plan (the 1997 
Plan). The Supervisory Board may grant incentive or non-statutory stock options at prices 
not less than 100% or 85%, respectively, of the fair value as determined by the Supervisory 
Board at the date of grant. Options vest ratably over periods determined by the Board, gen-
erally three years. The Board also has the authority to set exercise dates (no longer than 
ten years from the date of grant), payment terms, and other provisions for each grant. The 
Company had the right of first refusal for all common stock issued under the 1997 Plan 
should the holder desire to sell or otherwise transfer any of the shares. The Company's 
right of first refusal terminated upon the effective date July 16, 1998, of the Company's ini-
tial public offering.
 
1999 Equity Incentive Plan (all data subsequent to 5:1 reverse stock split)
Effective as of June 21, 1999, the Company adopted a new stock option plan (the 1999 
Plan) for the issuance of shares to Management Board members, executive officers, and 
certain employees. The options under the 1999 Plan vest ratably over a four-year period, 
beginning six months from the date of grant; however, pursuant to the German Stock Cor-
poration Act, no options will be exercisable, even though a portion is vested, prior to the 
second anniversary of the date of grant. The exercise price of the options is equal to 120% 
of the market price of the shares at the date of grant, where the market price is deter-
mined to be the average closing price as quoted on the Prime Standard for the 10 trading 
days prior to the date of grant.
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 There are two pools of shares authorized under the 1999 Plan. There are 133,000 shares 
for grants of stock options to members of the Management Board and general managers of 
subsidiaries and 1,500,000 shares for grants of stock options to all other employees. 
 
2001 Equity Incentive Plan (all data subsequent to 5:1 reverse stock split)
As of January 1, 2001, the Company adopted a new stock option plan (the 2001 Plan) for 
the issuance of shares to all employees. No options under this plan have been allocated to 
the Management Board. The options under the 2001 Plan vest ratably over a fifty-month 
period beginning from the date of grant; however, pursuant to the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act, no options will be exercisable, even though a portion is vested, prior to the six 
months after the date of grant. The exercise price of the options is the fair value at the 
date of grant, defined as equivalent to the XETRA closing price on the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange for voting shares of stock of the Company.
 
The Company has reserved 1,930,500 shares of common stock for issuance to employees 
under its 2001 Equity Incentive Plan.
 
Appropriation of Additional Paid-In-Capital
In accordance with the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), the Company reclas-
sified €155.5 million in 2001 and €92.3 million in 2002 of its additional paid-in capital to 
accumulated deficit, thus fully offsetting the losses carried forward. In 2003, the exchange 
of shares in Intershop Communications Inc. (see capital increase in fiscal 2003) was 
reported as a reclassification from accumulated deficit because reclassification from capi-
tal reserves was not possible after the withdrawals in previous years. Without this reclassifi-
cation, the accumulated deficit would be as follows (in thousands of €):

As of December 31, 2001 2002 2003
(Accumulated deficit) retained earnings, as reported (60,632) 4,124 (17,245)
Add: appropriation of additional paid-in capital (155,495) (247,805) (249,200)
Accumulated deficit, pro forma (216,127) (243,681) (266,445)

 
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company applies APB Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for the 
1997 Plan, 1999 Plan, and 2001 Plan. 
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Option activity under the plans was as follows (in thousands of €, except per-share data). 
To facilitate comparison, the figures for 2001 were adjusted using a 5:1 ratio in line with 
the reduction in capital in 2002.

Year Ended
December 31, 2001 2001 2002 2002 2003 2003
 

Number of
shares out-

standing

Weighted-
average 
exercise
price (€)

Number of
shares out-

standing

Weighted-
average 
exercise
price (€)

Number of
shares out-

standing

Weighted-
average
exercise
price (€)

Outstanding at beginning of period 986 332.40 1,158 174.25 1.979 77.60
Granted 791 23.25 1,325 6.90 882 1.82
Exercised (38) 10.75 1 3.19 0 0
Forfeited (581) 250.30 (505) 103.75 (806) 85.94
Outstanding at end of period 1,158 174.25 1,979 77.60 2,055 36.50
Exercisable options at end of period 387 216.72 681 141.98 767 82.66
Weighted average fair market value
of options granted during the year (€) 791 13.75 1,325 4.63 882 1.31

The following table summarizes information with respect to the stock options outstanding 
on December 31, 2003:

Range of Exercise Price

Number of
options out-

standing
(000s)

Weighted aver-
age remaining

contractual life
(in years)

Weighted aver-
age exercise

price (€)

Number  exer-
cisable on

December 31,
2003

(000s)

Weighted aver-
age exercise

price (€)
0,07 – 5,99 980 9.0 2.46 94 4.38
6,00 – 6,99 220 7.2 6.03 106 6.04
7,00 – 16,99 424 6.2 7.98 221 7.98
17,00 – 49,99 280 2.2 21.12 208 21.42
50,00 – 758,04 150 1.3 412.40 138 407.96
 2,055 6.7 36.50 767 82.66

 
The 1997 Plan allows for the issuance of options that are immediately exercisable through 
execution of a restricted stock purchase agreement. Shares purchased subject to a 
restricted stock purchase agreement generally vest over three years. As of December 31, 
2003, no shares of common stock issued and outstanding were unvested and subject to 
repurchase by the Company. All shares that were exercised early are held by a trustee on 
behalf of the employee. In the event that an employee leaves the Company with unvested 
shares, the Company repurchases the unvested shares from the employee at a price equal 
to the original issuance price and sells the shares in the open market, with the proceeds of 
the sale being contributed to the Company.
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Shares Reserved for Future Issuance
As of December 31, 2003, the Company had authorized and conditional capital of € 
48,262,500 and € 41,220,320, respectively. Authorized capital is equivalent to additional 
authorized shares for acquisitions or sales of common stock with the approval of the Com-
pany's Supervisory Board. Conditional capital is reserved for employee stock options.

    Income Taxes 

The Company accounts for income taxes using an asset and liability approach, under which 
deferred income taxes are calculated based upon enacted tax laws and rates applicable to 
the periods in which taxes become payable.

The income tax benefit differs from the amounts that would result by applying the applica-
ble German statutory rates 40.4%, to the loss before taxes, as follows (in thousands of €):

Year ended December 31, 2001 2002 2003
Provision (benefit) at German statutory rate (53,246) (11,132) (7,531)
Foreign income/losses taxed/benefited at a different tax rate 3,611 880 889
Change in valuation allowance 68,715 31,623 (7,476)
Permanent differences 270 49 15
Consolidation differences (13,096) (19,088) 8,745
Benefit of changes to the bases of consolidation - - 1,008
Other (6,254) (2,332) 4,340
Provision (benefit) for income taxes - - -

The components of the deferred tax asset were as follows (in thousands of €):

Year ended December 31, 2002 2003
Net operating loss carryforwards 175,154 160,687
Other 3,757 2,568
 178,911 163,246
Valuation allowance (178,911) (163,246)
Net deferred tax assets - -
 
A valuation allowance has been recorded for the entire deferred tax assets for all periods 
through December 31, 2002 as a result of uncertainties regarding the realization of the 
assets due to the limited operating history of the Company and its lack of profitability 
through December 31, 2003.
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For the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company had net loss carryforwards for tax 
reporting purposes in various tax jurisdictions as follows (in thousands of €):

US Federal 104,209
US State 32,211
German 272,384
Other 58,309
Total 467,113
 
US federal and state net operating loss carryforwards expire in various periods through 
2019. The German net operating loss carryforwards relate to corporate income tax and 
municipal trade tax and carry forward indefinitely. The US Tax Reform Act of 1986 and Ger-
man tax laws contain provisions that may limit the net operating loss and tax credit carry-
forwards to be used in any given year upon the occurrence of certain events, including a 
significant change in ownership interest.

    Related Parties 

In 2001, the Company generated revenue from certain related parties. In this year, mem-
bers of our Supervisory Board were executives or board members of these customers. Rev-
enues from sales to these related parties as a percentage of total revenues were as follows:

 2001 2002 2003
Related Party A 2% 0% 0%
Related Party B 1% 0% 0%

    Industry Segment and Geographic Information 

The Company’s primary line of business is the production and marketing of e-commerce 
software that enables customers to automate and simplify their purchasing and sales pro-
cesses and to consolidate and manage all their sales and procurement channels from a 
central platform. Accordingly, the Company does not disclose significant additional seg-
ment information as defined by SFAS No. 131. However, the Company’s business has five 
international sales geographies: Germany, United States, United Kingdom, Asia Pacific, and 
other (which includes France, Denmark, Norway, and Sweden). These geographies are sup-
ported by the central General Administration as well as by the Research & Development 
and Technical Support departments. The Company’s products are developed at its head-
quarters in Jena, Germany, and are sold in Europe, North America, Australia, and Asia via 
the Company’s own direct distribution, sales partners, and independent distributors.
 
For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, information concerning the 
Company's geographic locations is summarized as follows (in thousands of €):
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2003 Germany
United
States

United
Kingdom

Asia
Pacific Other Total

Revenues       
Licenses 3,473 1,149 1,123 491 269 6,505
Services, maintenance, and other 12,042 2,191 582 163 1,676 16,654
Total revenues 15,515 3,340 1,705 654 1,945 23,159
Gross profit       
Licenses 2,949 1,151 1,123 491 271 5,985
Services, maintenance, and other 519 1,166 372 163 1,453 3,673
Total gross profit (loss) 3,468 2,317 1,495 654 1,724 9,658
Total operating expenses 31,706 4,226 2,567 2,173 4,332 45,004
Operating income (loss) (16,191) (886) (862) (1,519) (2,387) (21,845)
Other income (expense), net      3,205
Net loss      (18,640)
Long-lived assets 713 37 333 16 7 1,106

 

2002 Germany
United
States

United
Kingdom

Asia
Pacific Other Total

Revenues       
Licenses 14,669 4,580 685 751 1,777 22,462
Services, maintenance, and other 14,151 4,368 861 326 2,929 22,635
Total revenues 28,820 8,948 1,546 1,077 4,706 45,097
Gross profit       
Licenses 13,400 4,514 684 751 1,825 21,174
Services, maintenance, and other 263 2,497 (195) 192 2,064 4,821
Total gross profit (loss) 13,663 7,011 489 943 3,889 25,995
Total operating expenses 47,235 9,570 6,351 2,814 7,806 73,776
Operating income (loss) (18,415) (622) (4,805) (1,737) (3,100) (28,679)
Other income (expense), net      1,124
Net loss      (27,555)
Long-lived assets 3,473 189 451 2 186 4,301
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2001 Germany
United
States

United
Kingdom

Asia
Pacific Other Total

Revenues       
Licenses 13,331 1,832 793 1,538 2,986 20,480
Services, maintenance, and other 30,496 6,353 7,672 789 2,864 48,174
Total revenues 43,827 8,185 8,465 2,327 5,850 68,654
Gross profit       
Licenses 12,906 1,530 566 1,049 2,091 18,142
Services, maintenance, and other 7,407 (2,096) 2,116 (1,717) 1,031 6,741
Total gross profit (loss) 20,313 (566) 2,682 (668) 3,122 24,883
Total operating expenses 82,682 41,952 10,362 12,531 10,893 158,420
Operating income (loss) (62,369) (42,518) (7,680) (13,199) (7,771) (133,537)
Other income (expense), net      1,739
Net loss      (131,798)
Long-lived assets 8,501 1,635 2,380 645 361 13,522

 
The accounting policies followed by the Company's business segments are the same as 
those described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The Company generated the following license revenues from its Enfinity and Intershop 4 
product lines (in thousands of €):

Year ended December 31, 2001 2002 2003
Enfinity 17,391 20,259 6,505
Intershop 4 3,089 2,203 -
Total 20,480 22,462 6,505

The service revenue generated by Intershop can be broken down into consulting, customer 
support, and training revenue as follows (in thousands of €):

Year ended December 31 2001 2002 2003
Consulting 36,649 15,335 9,203
Customer support 9,320 6,171 6,862
Training 2,101 581 392
Other revenue 104 548 197
Total 48,174 22,635 16,654

    Local Disclosure Requirements 

Management Board

Dr. Jürgen Schöttler, Management Board Chairman, Chief Executive Officer (since July 14, 
2003) and Chief Financial Officer
Stephan Schambach, Management Board member responsible for Strategy and Product 
Development (retired as Management Board Chairman on June 14, 2003; retired from Man-
agement Board on February 4, 2004)
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 Werner Fuhrmann, Management Board member responsible for Sales and President EMEA 
(retired on July 16, 2003)
 
Supervisory Board

Eckhard Pfeiffer, Chairman (re-elected May 28)
Theodore J. Smith, Deputy Chairman (re-elected May 28)
Hans W. Gutsch (re-elected May 28)
Peter Mark Droste (re-elected May 28)
Burgess Jamieson (re-elected May 28)
Dr. Harald Rieger (elected March 31, re-elected May 28, resigned October 31)
 
Board Compensation

The compensation of the Management Board for the fiscal year 2003 amounted to 
€922,297, of which €210,000 in unpaid performance-related remuneration was set aside. 
The members of the Management Board were granted a total of 320,000 stock options 
from the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan.
 
In the fiscal year 2003, the annual compensation, accrued but not paid, for the Supervisory 
Board was €106,250. According to the Articles of Association, this consists solely of fixed, 
not performance-related remuneration.
 
By way of a unanimous vote by the Supervisory Board in which he did not take part, Mr. 
Hans W. Gutsch, a Supervisory Board member since 2001, was engaged to advise the man-
agement during the Company’s difficult restructuring phase in 2002 and 2003. Mr. Gutsch 
was chosen for this task because of his in-depth knowledge of the industry. His remunera-
tion amounts to €200,000 per annum plus a lump-sum compensation of €10,000 per 
month.

Investments
The following table lists directly and indirectly held investments of the Company that are 
included in the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2003:

 Ownership %
Intershop Communications, Inc., San Francisco, USA 100
Intershop Communications Ventures GmbH, Jena, Germany 100
Intershop (UK) Ltd., London, United Kingdom 100
IS Nordic, AB, Stockholm, Sweden 100
Intershop Communications Hong Kong Co. Ltd., Hong Kong, China 99.99
Intershop Communications Singapore Pte Ltd., Singapore 100
Intershop Communications Australia Pty Ltd., Sydney, Australia 100
Intershop Communications Taiwan Co. Ltd., Taipei, Taiwan 100
Intershop Communications Korea Co. Ltd., Seoul, Korea 99.98
Intershop Communications K.K., Tokyo, Japan 100
 
Employees

The Intershop Group had an average of 385 employees in the fiscal year 2003.
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 Declaration of Conformity

The Company has published and made available permanently its declaration of conformity 
as required by sec. 161 AktG (German Stock Corporation Law) in 2003. 

    Subsequent Events 

On January 14, 2004, Intershop announced that it would voluntarily delist from the Nasdaq 
National Market (“Nasdaq”), and gave notice to Citibank, N.A., the depositary for Inter-
shop’s American Depositary Receipts (ADR) facility (the “Depositary”), to terminate the 
ADR facility effective as of the close of trading on February 17, 2004. From this date, ADRs 
issued by Intershop were no longer tradable on Nasdaq. With effect from January 15, 2004, 
Intershop also terminated its F-6 registration statement with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission in respect of all 98,550,000 unissued ADRs in its ADR facility.
 
On January 27, 2004, Intershop announced that it had agreed with Citibank, N.A. to 
shorten the six-month period for holders of Intershop ADRs to surrender them in order to 
withdraw the underlying Intershop common bearer shares (“surrender period”). In accor-
dance with the termination provision, which was amended as of January 27, 2004, holders 
of Intershop ADRs were entitled to surrender their Intershop ADRs for withdrawal of the 
underlying Intershop common bearer shares at any time up to February 27, 2004, i.e., ten 
days after conclusion of the surrender agreement on February 17, 2004 rather than six 
months as previously. Intershop ADR holders who chose not to surrender their Intershop 
ADRs for withdrawal of the underlying Intershop common bearer shares received cash pro-
ceeds from the sale of such underlying Intershop common bearer shares at the price 
obtained on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.  The Depositary then remitted the cash pro-
ceeds from the sale, net of any applicable charges, expenses, taxes, or governmental 
charges, to such Intershop ADR holders.
 
Intershop’s issued and outstanding ADRs were deregistered with the SEC by submission of 
Form 15. 
 
On February 4, 2004, Intershop announced that Stephan Schambach had asked the Super-
visory Board to be immediately released from his duties as a member of the Management 
Board. The Supervisory Board accepted Mr. Schambach’s decision. As a result, Mr. Scham-
bach, a major shareholder of the Company with an interest in the capital stock of 19.26% 
at the balance sheet date, left the Company following the mutual termination of his con-
tract of service.
 
On March 5, 2004 Intershop announced that the Company's Executive Board (Vorstand) 
and Supervisory Board (Aufsichtsrat) had decided to implement a public rights issue from 
authorized capital in order to raise cash and strengthen the Company’s balance sheet.
 
As part of the subscription offer published on March 9, 2004 in the electronic Bundesanzei-
ger (Federal Gazette) and the Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung (FAZ), a German daily newspa-
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per, the Company offered all current Intershop shareholders the opportunity to subscribe 
for one new Intershop common bearer share per 11.5 existing Intershop common bearer 
shares held at a price of €2.00 per share (indirect pre-emptive right) during the period 
from March 10, 2004 to March 24, 2004. To this end, Intershop issued 1,916,113 new 
common bearer shares from authorized capital. Any shares not subscribed by shareholders 
were placed with institutional investors by Munich, Germany-based VEM Aktienbank AG, 
the investment bank handling the transaction.
 

The new shares increased the total number of Intershop issued and outstanding shares by 
1,916,113, from 22,035,299 before the transaction to 23,951,412 after the transaction. 
The capital increase took legal effect by entry in the commercial register at the Local Court 
of Gera, Germany on March 30, 2004. The new shares were admitted to trading on the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange on April 6, 2004.  The new shares were traded for the first time 
on April 8, 2004.
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    General 

The consolidated financial statements of Intershop Communications Aktiengesellschaft 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Company” or “Intershop Communications AG”) as of 
December 31, 2002 were prepared as exempting consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with section 292a of the German Commercial Code - HGB (Handelsgeset-
zbuch) in conformity with US generally accepted accounting principles (“US GAAP”) and on 
the basis of the German Accounting Standard No 1 (GAS 1) issued by the German Stan-
dardization Committee (Deutscher Standisierungsrat DRSC e.V.). The provisions of the 
HGB and the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz - AktG) differ from US GAAP in 
certain significant respects. The main differences that may be relevant to an evaluation of 
the net assets, financial position, and results of operations of the Company are described 
below. Pursuant to the HGB, all items in the balance sheet and income statement must be 
set out in the form and order laid down in sections 266 and 275 of the HGB. US GAAP 
requires a different presentation, in which balance sheet items are presented with more liq-
uid items first. Under US GAAP, the short-term portions of long-term receivables and liabili-
ties are shown in a separate balance sheet item. The portion that is due in less than one 
year is treated as short term. Software purchased for internal use is not shown as an intan-
gible asset, as it is in financial statements prepared in accordance with the HGB, but as 
property and equipment (furniture, fixtures, and office equipment). According to US GAAP, 
the development cost of internally generated software can be capitalized and amortized 
over its estimated useful life. The HGB does not allow internally generated software form-
ing part of fixed assets to be capitalized. From 1998 until the present time, the Company 
has charged all software development costs to research and development as incurred in 
accordance with US GAAP. 

    Deferred Taxes on Loss Carryforwards 

According to the HGB, deferred tax refund claims arising from tax loss carryforwards may 
not be shown on the balance sheet, as expected future tax savings are deemed to be not 
yet realized. US GAAP requires these types of future tax reduction claims to be capitalized. 
Their recognition depends upon the probability of the loss carryforwards being utilized 
within the required period. The Company has written off its capitalized tax loss carryfor-
wards as of December 31, 2002 due to uncertainties regarding their realization.

    Employee Stock Options 

According to US GAAP, stock-based compensation issued to employees may be accounted 
for in two ways. Under the first method, the fair value of stock-based compensation is 
determined and recorded as an expense over the vesting period of the option or other 
equity instrument. Alternatively, only the difference between the exercise price of the 
option and the market price of the underlying security at the date of grant are recognized 
as an expense over the vesting period. Under this method, the pro forma impact on net 
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income of accounting for stock-based compensation using the first method must be dis-
closed in the financial statements. The Company has chosen to apply the second method 
and presents the pro forma impact in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 

As noted above, the difference between the exercise price of the option and the market 
price of the underlying security at the date of grant are to be treated, according to 
US GAAP, as personnel expenses recorded ratably over the vesting period of the option 
and deferred in shareholders’ equity. In line with currently accepted accounting rules, no 
expense would be recognized in the income statement pursuant to HGB.

    Shareholders' Equity 

According to the HGB, the Company would have had to prepare consolidated financial 
statements for the first time following the acquisition of the majority of shares in Intershop 
Communications, Inc. on June 22, 1998 and to perform the capital consolidation as of this 
date. The difference between the book value of the participation and the equity capital of 
the subsidiary Intershop Communications, Inc. would have to be distributed according to 
the actual value of the assets and liabilities included in consolidation. The remainder would 
have to be disclosed as goodwill and either amortized over its expected useful life or offset 
against the capital reserves on the face of the balance sheet. The valuation base from the 
Company's single-entity financial statements would have to be shown as capital stock. The 
amount allotted to the minority shareholders in Intershop Communications, Inc. would 
have to be disclosed under shareholders’ equity as “minority interests in capital” and in the 
income statement as “minority interests in profit/loss.” Under US GAAP, the capital consol-
idation of the Company in line with APB 16 “Business Combinations” is effected as a “trans-
action under common control,” which eliminates the transfer of the shares in Intershop 
Communications GmbH, Jena, to Intershop Communications, Inc., as well as the transfer of 
the shares in Intershop Communications, Inc. to Intershop Communications AG and means 
that only the amount actually raised is reported as capital stock. In line with this, no differ-
ences resulted from these transactions under US GAAP. Due to the fact that the minority 
shareholders of Intershop Communications, Inc. have a right of conversion for the condi-
tional capital of the shareholders, no minority shares in the capital or the profit/loss are 
shown. Therefore, under US GAAP, the time of first consolidation does not apply, so that 
the disclosures made before the formation of Intershop Communications AG reflect the 
individual group structures.

    Revenue Recognition 

In accordance with US GAAP, sales revenue is recognized in compliance with the American 
Institute of Public Accountants´ Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, “Software Revenue 
Recognition,” and related interpretations. There is no general difference to HGB with 
regard to licensing revenue. US GAAP requires accounting for work in process on service 
transactions to be performed according to the percentage of completion method, whereby 
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the progress of each project leads to revenue recognition on a pro-rata basis. Under the 
HGB, work in process would have to be disclosed at the cost of manufacture under invento-
ries. Service revenue would only be taken into account upon completion of work.

    Costs Associated with Certain Equity Transactions 

According to US GAAP, costs associated with certain equity transactions (for example, pub-
lic offerings of stock), net of any related income tax effects, are treated as a reduction of 
the proceeds from the transaction. Under the HGB, these costs represent expenses for the 

period.

    Foreign Currency Transactions 

Under US GAAP, foreign currency transactions (for example, foreign currency denominated 
trade receivables or payables) are measured at the rate prevailing on the date on which 
they are initially recognized. These balance sheet items must be measured at the year-end 
rates at each subsequent balance sheet date. Foreign currency adjustments resulting from 
exchange rate fluctuations are recognized in income, with any unrealized gains being 
recorded in the income statement. Under HGB, revaluation losses are recognized in the 
income statement at each balance sheet date only, while gains are only recognized when 
realized (for example, upon payment of a foreign currency liability).

    Acquisitions 

Under US GAAP, all acquisitions after June 30, 2001 are accounted for using the purchase 
method in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 141, 
“Business Combinations.” This method requires the assets and liabilities of the acquired 
company to be re-measured at the time of combination. Any difference between the re-
measured assets and liabilities (net assets) acquired and the consideration given is dis-
closed as goodwill. Gains or losses by the acquired company are recognized only from the 
acquisition date forward. Effective January 1, 2002, Intershop no longer amortizes the 
goodwill that arose from acquisitions before June 30, 2001 on a straight-line basis over its 
estimated useful life but reviews goodwill for impairment on an annual basis in accordance 
with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Under HGB, the purchase 
method is used to measure combinations, and, in certain circumstances, the profits and 
losses of the acquired company may be recognized retroactively.
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    Balance Sheets Intershop Communications AG 

As of December 31, (in €) 2002 2003
ASSETS   
Fixed Assets   
Intangible assets   

Software licenses 644,518 51,639
Property and equipment   

Other facilities, furniture, and equipment 39,869 752,707
Financial Assets   

Investments in affiliated companies 21,619,288 15,728,899
Loans to affiliated companies 7,000,000 0

 28,619,288 15,728,899
 29,303,675 16,533,245

Current Assets   
Inventories   

Finished goods and merchandise 0 37,485
Payments on account 0 233,131

 0 270,616
Receivables and other assets   

Accounts receivable 0 1,666,258
Receivables from affiliated companies 2,140,538 1,521,582
Other assets 1,672,090 860,425

 3,812,628 4,048,265
Short-term security investments   

Other securities 4,170,636 0
Cash-in-hand, bank balances 7,725,805 7,404,082
 15,709,069 11,722,963
Prepaid expenses 106,181 71,379
Total Assets 45,118,925 28,327,587
   
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   
Shareholders’ Equity   
Common stock   

Conditional capital: €41,220,320 (previous year: €43,949,219) 19,306,400 22,035,299
Capital surplus 3,973,876 3,973,876
Accumulated Deficit - (7,799,016)

 23,280,276 18,210,159
Accrued Liabilities   
Other accrued liabilities 18,652,451 4,522,526
Liabilities   
Accounts payable 220,184 1,106,416
Liabilities due to affiliated companies 2,866,691 1,021,582
Other liabilities   

thereof from taxes: €190,107 (previous year: €61,519) 
thereof from social security benefits: €300,326 (previous year: €11,421) 99,323 576,975

 3,186,198 2,704,973
Deferred Charges  2,889,929
Total Shareholders’ Equity and Liabilities 45,118,925 28,327,587
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    Statements of Operations Intershop Communications AG 

(in €) 

For the year ended December 31 2002 2003
Revenues 0 17,525,740
Decrease in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 0 (288,112)
Other operating income 10,822,688 8,923,981
Cost of Materials   

Cost of raw materials, consumables and supplies, and purchased merchandise 0 (39,251)
Cost of purchased services 0 (1,566,873)

Personnel Costs   
Salaries (1,897,761) (15,283,536)
Social security contribution and other pension costs (171,063) (2,612,672)

Depreciation and amortization   
of intangible fixed assets and property and equipment, and capitalized start-up and business 
expansion costs (1,325,379) (2,766,729)
of current assets to the extent it exceeds depreciation and amortization that is normal for the 
Company (32,970,786) (8,696,400)

Other operating expenses (14,239,080) (15,225,892)
Other interest and similar income   
thereof from affiliated companies €7,487,827 (previous year: €10,182,612) 10,633,258 8,076,072
Amortization of financial assets and short-term security investments (30,509,353) (3,232,909)
Interest and similar expenses   
thereof from affiliated companies €43,410 (previous year: €43,485) (51,080) (339,845)
Loss from ordinary operations (59,708,556) (15,526,426)
Extraordinary income 0 7,717,750
Extraordinary result 0 7,717,750
Taxes on income 46,885 9,660
Net Income/Loss (59,661,671) (7,799,016)
Accumulated deficit carried forward (38,898,941) 0
Transfer from capital surplus 98,560,612 0
Accumulated Deficit 0 (7,799,016)
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    Accounting Policies 

Property and equipment is stated at cost, less depreciation.
 
Financial assets are stated at cost, less necessary valuation allowances.
Inventories are measured at manufacturing costs. Receivables and other assets are stated 
at face value, less any necessary valuation allowances.
 
Prepaid expenses and deferred charges are measured using the portion of expenses or 
income that relates to a period after the balance sheet date.
 
Other accrued liabilities cover all recognizable risks and are measured in the amount dic-
tated by prudent business practice.
 
Liabilities are stated at their redemption amount.
 
Foreign currency receivables and liabilities are measured using the principle of lower of 
cost or market and the imparity principle, respectively.

    Explanations on the Annual Financial Statements 

Fixed assets changed as follows (in €): 

 Jan. 1, 2003 Additions* Disposals Dec. 31, 2003
Intangible Assets     
Software licenses 2,578,074 199,634 - 2,777,708
Tangible Assets     
Other equipment, operating and office equipment 110,285 2,802,355 191,769 2,720,871
Financial Assets     
Shares in affiliated companies 52,081,761 2,728,899 5,386,379 49,424,281
Loans to affiliated companies 30,000,000 - 30,000,000 -
 82,081,761 2,728,899 35,386,379 49,424,281
 84,770,120 5,730,888 35,578,148 54,922,860

* Included with these asset additions are the following additions resulting from the merger 
of former Intershop Communications subsidiaries:
software licenses: € 143,819
Other equipment, operating and office equipment : € 2,512,724
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Cumulative
depreciation

and amortiza-
tion Jan. 1,

2003 Additions Disposals

Cumulative
depreciation

and amortiza-
tion Dec. 31,

2003

Net book
value Dec.

31, 2003

Net book
value Dec.

31, 2002
Intangible Assets       
Software licenses  1,933,556 792,513 - 2,726,069 51,639 644,518
Tangible Assets       
Other equipment, operating and office 
equipment 70,416 1,974,216 76,468 1,968,164 752,707 39,869
Financial Assets       
Shares in affiliated
companies 30,462,473 3,232,909 - 33,695,382 15,728,899 21,619,288
Loans to affiliated
companies 23,000,000 - 23,000,000 - - 7,000,000
 53,462,473 3,232,909 23,000,000  33,695,382 15,728,899 28,619,288
 55,466,445 5,999,638 23,076,468 38,389,615 16,533,245 29,303,675

Receivables from affiliated companies and other assets have a maturity of up to one year.
 
Cash and cash equivalents totaling €6,190,424 (previous year: €7,072,858) reported 
under cash-in-hand and bank balances have been assigned as security (restricted cash).
 
The share capital in the amount of €22,035,299 consists of 22,035,299 no-par value 
bearer shares.
 
The authorized capital totaling €48,262,500 entitles the Management Board to issue an 
additional 48,262,500 no-par value bearer shares. 
 
The resolution of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on June 6, 2002 authorized the Man-
agement Board, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the Company's 
share capital by a total of up to €38,610,000 on one or several occasions up to Novem-
ber 11, 2007, by issuing a maximum of 38,610,000 new no-par value bearer shares (Autho-
rized Capital I). The Management Board is also authorized to exclude the shareholders' sub-
scription rights with the approval of the Supervisory Board.
 
Furthermore, the resolution of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on June 6, 2002 autho-
rized the Management Board, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the 
Company's share capital by a total of up to €9,652,500 for the purposes approved by the 
Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on June 6, 2002. This increase may be carried out by issuing 
a maximum of 9,652,500 new no-par value bearer shares on one or several occasions up 
to November 11, 2007 (Authorized Capital II); shareholders' subscription rights have been 
excluded.
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An amount totaling €41,220,320 is available as conditional capital for the issuance of 
41,220,320 no-par value bearer shares. Due to the reverse stock split and the lapsing of 
options, however, a maximum of 23,220,706 shares can be issued from conditional capital.
 
Of the conditional capital created for granting employee stock options, € 8,165,000 (Con-
ditional Capital I) are reserved for options in compliance with section 192 (2) clause 3 of 
the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz). Conditional Capital I is reserved for exer-
cising the options based on the 1999 option model. These options must be exercised no 
earlier than two years and no later than five years from the time they were granted. The 
conversion price for the new shares is based upon the average price of the shares during 
the last ten trading days prior to the day the options were granted, plus 20%. Due to the 
one-for-five reverse stock split resolved on October 30, 2002, which became legally effec-
tive on December 12, 2002, subscription rights from Conditional Capital I decreased in the 
same ratio, i.e., to 1,633,000 shares, in accordance with section 218 of the AktG.
 
Moreover, € 690,016 from Conditional Capital II created in compliance with section 192 
(2) clause 3 of the German Stock Corporation Act are reserved to implement the rights 
granted to known holders of options to exchange shares in Intershop Communications, 
Inc., which was acquired by the Company in 1998, for shares in the Company at a ratio of 
5:15. Due to the one-for-five reverse stock split resolved on October 30, 2002, which 
became legally effective on December 12, 2002, subscription rights from Conditional Capi-
tal I decreased in the same ratio, i.e., to 138,003 shares, in accordance with section 218 
of the AktG.
As of the balance sheet date, Conditional Capital III amounted to €10,915,601. On June 17 
and 18, 2003, respectively, Stephan Schambach and Burgess Jamieson exercised in full 
their option to exchange their shares in Intershop Communications, Inc. for common 
bearer shares of the Company and contributed all of their shares in Intershop Communica-
tions Inc. to Intershop Communications AG. To this end, the Company issued 2,728,899 
new shares from Conditional Capital III.  As the beneficiaries no longer hold any options, no 
further shares will be issued from Conditional Capital III.
The resolution of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on June 13, 2001 authorized the Man-
agement Board to grant, on one or several occasions up to May 31, 2006, bearer convert-
ible bonds as well as bonds with warrants for a total of up to 21,449,703 no-par value 
bearer shares of the Company, in which case shareholders' subscription rights can be 
excluded. In order to cover these convertible bonds, the Company's share capital was con-
ditionally increased by up to €21,449,703 (Conditional Capital IV).
 
The capital surplus is unchanged from the previous year at €3,973,876.
 
Other accrued liabilities consist primarily of pending losses from ongoing obligations and lit-
igation risks, year-end closing costs and the costs of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting, 
outstanding invoices, warranties, holiday entitlements, license fees, and commission.
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Liabilities can be broken down as follows (in thousands €):

 
Due within

1 year
Due in

1 – 5 years

Due after
more than

5 years  Total
Mortgage-

backed
Trade payables 1,106 -   -   1,106 -
Liabilities to affiliated companies 1,022 - - 1,022 -
Other liabilities 577 -   -   577 -
      
 2,705 -   -   2,705 -

 
Contingent Liabilities
As of December 31, 2003, the Company has financial obligations of €29.6 million relating 
to a lease agreement for its office premises that are due ratably until the term of the lease 
ends on September 14, 2013.
 
Statement of Operations

The following table shows a breakdown of revenues by region:

Germany 15,371,249
Rest of Europe             1,400,724
Rest of the world excluding Europe      753,767
  
 17,525,740

€4,825,815 of revenues relates to license income and €12,699,925 to income from con-
sulting services.

Other operating income in the fiscal year 2003 includes prior-period income of 
€5,795,785.
 
The write-downs charged in accordance with section 253 (2) of the HGB amount to 
€3,232,909 (previous year: €30,509,353); those charged in accordance with section 253 
(3) of the HGB amount to €8,696,400 (previous year: €32,970,786). 
€7,487,827 of other interest and similar income relates to affiliated companies (previous 
year: €10,182,612), and these also account for €43,410 of interest and similar expenses 
(previous year: €43,485). 
The extraordinary income is due to the merger of the former subsidiaries with Intershop 
Communications AG.
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    Other Disclosures 

The Company had an average of 371 employees during the fiscal year 2003  (prior year: 13).
 
The Supervisory Board comprised the following members in 2003:
 
Eckhard Pfeiffer
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Investor
Former President and Chief Executive Officer, Compaq Computer Corporation
Other board memberships:
General Motors Corporation
Hughes Electronics Corporation
L.M. Ericsson AB
Biogen, Inc.
IFCO Systems NV
Synetc Capital AG
 
Theodore J. Smith
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Investor
Founder and former President, FileNET Corporation
Other board memberships:
FileNET Corporation
 
Peter Mark Droste
Graduate engineer
Former Manager Central and Northern Europe, Siebel Systems
Former Manager of Compaq Germany
Other board memberships:
Infor Business Solution AG
Member of the Advisory Council of Aventeon
 
Hans W. Gutsch
Graduate in business administration
Former Senior VP Human Resources and Organization, Compaq Computer Corporation
Other board memberships:
EyeTicket Corporation (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
EI-Nets, Ltd., Singapore
RYNEX Corporation New York, USA
 

Burgess Jamieson
Engineer
Investor and shareholder 
Project Manager and Technology Manager at aerospace companies
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Division Vice President, Electronic Memories, Inc.
Chief Operating Officer, Sycor, Inc.
Co-founder, Institutional Venture Associates
 
Dr. Harald Rieger
(from March 31 to October 31, 2003)
Lawyer
 
The Management Board included the following persons in 2003:
 
Dr. Jürgen Schöttler
Management Board member responsible for finance and Chief Financial Officer (until 
July 13, 2003)
Chairman of the Management Board and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
(since July 14, 2003)
 
Stephan Schambach
Chairman of the Management Board and Chief Executive Officer (until July 13, 2003)
Management Board member responsible for Strategy and Product Development (since 
July 14, 2003)
 
Werner Fuhrmann 
Management Board member and President EMEA (until July 16, 2003)
 
The Management Board received remuneration from the Company totaling €922,297. The 
members of the Management Board were granted a total of 320,000 stock options from 
the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan. The remuneration for the members of the Supervisory 
Board for the fiscal year amounted to €106,250. 
 
Information on the shareholdings of the members of the executive bodies (Supervisory and 
Management Boards) as of December 31, 2003 can be found in Note 16 of the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements, “Local Disclosure Requirements.” As a listed com-
pany, Intershop Communications AG prepares consolidated financial statements in accor-
dance with US GAAP which, according to the provisions of section 292a of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB), exempt it from the need to file HGB consolidated financial state-
ments. The consolidated financial statements are filed with the commercial register of the 
Local Court in Gera, Germany. These consolidated financial statements include the finan-
cial statements of the parent company and the following companies:
 
Intershop Communications, Inc., San Francisco, USA
Intershop (UK) Ltd., London, United Kingdom
Intershop Communications Ventures GmbH, Jena, Germany
IS Nordic AB, Stockholm, Sweden
Intershop Communications Hong Kong Co. Ltd., Hong Kong, China
Intershop Communications Korea Co. Ltd., Seoul, Korea
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Intershop Communications Taiwan, Taipei, Taiwan
Intershop Communications Dubai LLC, Dubai, United Arab Emirates
Intershop Communications Singapore Pte Ltd., Singapore
Intershop Communications K.K, Tokyo, Japan
Intershop Communications Australia Pty Ltd., North Sydney, Australia

The following list shows the subsidiaries of Intershop Communications AG and the Compa-
ny's respective interest as of December 31, 2003:

Interest
in % Currency

Nominal
capital Equity* Net loss*

Intershop Communications, Inc., San Francisco, USA 100 € 7,332,682 (103,789,364) (6,080,451)
Intershop Communications Ventures GmbH, Jena 100 € 1,000,000 (1,877,477) (94,153)
Intershop (UK) Ltd., London, United Kingdom 100 € 1,586 (21,215,980) (1,959,888)
IS Nordic AB, Stockholm, Sweden 100 € 11,437 101,506 (1,177,685)
Intershop Communications Hongkong Co. Ltd., Hong Kong, China 99.99 € 1,378 (12,856,545) (2,004,739)
Intershop Communications Korea Co. Ltd., Seoul, Korea 99.98 € 50,940 (2,765,979) (27,267)
Intershop Communications Taiwan, Taipei, Taiwan 100 € 32,393 (663,780) 15,125
Intershop Communications Singapore Pte Ltd., Singapore 100 € 65,168 (963,227) (22,977)
Intershop Communications K.K., Tokyo, Japan 100 € 109,064 (4,760,209) (515,691)
Intershop Communications Australia Pty Ltd., Sydney, Australia 100 € 238,278 (2,046,730) (82,478)

* The above figures for equity and the net loss for the year are provisional. 

    Declaration of Conformity in Accordance with Section 161 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act 

The corporate governance declaration of conformity required under section 161 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz) was submitted and has been permanently avail-
able to stockholders on the Company’s web site at http://www.intershop.com/investors 
since February 13, 2004.

    Appropriation of Net Income/Loss 

The Management Board of Intershop Communications AG proposes to carry forward the 
accumulated deficit of €7,799,016 to new account.

Jena, April 2004
The Management Board

Dr. Jürgen Schöttler
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We have issued the following opinion on the financial statements and report on the situa-
tion of the Company and the Group:
 
"We have audited the annual financial statements, together with the bookkeeping system, 
and the report on the situation of the Company and the Group of INTERSHOP Communica-
tions Aktiengesellschaft, Jena, for the fiscal year from January 1 to December 31, 2003. 
The maintenance of the books and records and the preparation of the annual financial 
statements and report on the situation of the Company and the Group in accordance with 
German commercial law are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our respon-
sibility is to express an opinion on the annual financial statements, together with the book-
keeping system, and the report on the situation of the Company and the Group based on 
our audit.
 
We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements in accordance with Sec. 317 
HGB ["Handelsgesetzbuch": German Commercial Code] and the generally accepted Ger-
man standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer in Germany (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, finan-
cial position and results of operations in the annual financial statements in accordance 
with German principles of proper accounting and in the report on the situation of the Com-
pany and the Group are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business 
activities and the economic and legal environment of the Company and evaluations of pos-
sible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The 
effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence support-
ing the disclosures in the books and records, the annual financial statements and the 
report on the situation of the Company and the Group are examined primarily on a test 
basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the accounting princi-
ples used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the annual financial statements and report on the situation of the Company 
and the Group. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
Our audit has not led to any reservations.
 
In our opinion, the annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, 
financial position and results of operations of the Company in accordance with German 
principles of proper accounting. On the whole, the report on the situation of the Company 
and the Group provides a suitable understanding of the Company's position and suitably 
presents the risks to future development. Without, however, qualifying this opinion, we also 
refer to the explanations by the Company in the report on the situation of the Company 
and the Group. In section 11. 'Risks to the Group and INTERSHOP Communications AG', 
the Company explains the proposed measures to improve the results of operations and the 
cash flow and presents the assumptions which are the basis of its corporate planning. If 
INTERSHOP Communications Aktiengesellschaft is not able to implement its business plan 
for 2004, because, for example, these assumptions do not hold true, additional funds may 
become necessary to support business operations. If in such case such funds cannot be 
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made available in time, INTERSHOP Communications Aktiengesellschaft’s and the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern could be jeopardized. The Company further empha-
sises that unplanned write-downs on the carrying amounts of its investment in INTERSHOP 
Communications Inc., San Francisco, U. S. A. cannot be excluded, if the future economic 
development of this subsidiary deviates significantly from the expected development."
 
Eschborn/Frankfurt/M., April 19, 2004
 
Ernst & Young
Revisions- und Treuhandgesellschaft mbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft
 

Nendza
Wirtschaftsprüfer

Jöns
Wirtschaftsprüfer
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The recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code were largely complied 
with in the fiscal year 2003. The Supervisory Board and the Management Board made the 
following joint declaration of conformity in accordance with section 161 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz) on February 13, 2004: 

1. Intershop Communications AG has complied with the recommendations of the Govern-
ment Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code since the last declara-
tion of conformity dated December 31, 2002, which was based on the then current 
version of the Code, with the following exceptions: 

a) The convention documents for the stockholders’ meeting are not sent via 
electronic channels (section 2.3.2).

 b) An individual breakdown of the compensation components of Executive Board 
salaries is not given in the notes to the consolidated financial statements (section 
4.2.4).

 c) The Supervisory Board has no separate Terms of Reference (section 5.1.3).
 d) The Chairman of the Supervisory Board does not chair the committee that handles 

Executive Board contracts; this committee is chaired by Hans Gutsch, a member of 
the Supervisory Board (section 5.2).

 e) No age limit has been specified for members of the Supervisory Board (section 
5.4.1).

 f) The Supervisory Board does not receive performance-related compensation. 
Compensation is published as an aggregate amount (section 5.4.5).

 g) The consolidated financial statements are published no later than 30 days after 
the deadline stated in the Code, in accordance with the deadline laid down in sec-
tion 62 (3) of the Exchange Rules of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (section 7.1.2).

 

2. Intershop Communications AG will comply with the recommendations of the Govern-
ment Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code, as amended in the 
version dated May 21, 2003, with the following exceptions: 

a) The convention documents for the stockholders’ meeting will not be sent via 
electronic channels (section 2.3.2).

 b) Following the resignation of Mr. Stephan Schambach the Executive Board consists 
for the time being of only one person, Dr. Jürgen Schöttler. (section 4.2.1).

 c) The Supervisory Board will not receive performance-related compensation. 
Compensation will be published as an aggregate amount. (section 5.4.5).

 d) The consolidated financial statements will be published no later than 30 days after 
the deadline stated in the Code, in accordance with the deadline laid down in sec-
tion 62 (3) of the Exchange Rules of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (section 7.1.2).
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 This declaration has been permanently available to stockholders on the Company’s web 
site at http://www.intershop.com/investors since February 13, 2004. 
 

Jena, March 19, 2004
Intershop Communications AG

Eckhard Pfeiffer
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Dr. Jürgen Schöttler
Chief Executive Officer
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The Supervisory Board oversaw and monitored the activities of the Management Board in 
accordance with the tasks imposed upon it by law and the Articles of Association and 
assured itself that corporate governance standards were implemented and observed 
throughout the Company. The Supervisory Board convened for meetings on Jan-
uary 30, 2003, April 11, 2003, May 27, 2003, September 11, 2003, and October 27, 2003.
 
During 2003, the Supervisory Board continued to support the activities of the Management 
Board. The Supervisory Board was consulted by the Management Board on a series of 
strategic decisions in several telephone and video conferences. The Management Board 
regularly reported to the Supervisory Board both on the Company’s progress towards 
achieving annual targets and on the prospects for future periods. The Supervisory Board’s 
Audit Committee held meetings with the Management Board member responsible for 
finance and the head of accounting on a monthly basis to discuss, analyze, and monitor 
financial issues relating to day-to-day business operations. 
 
In 2003, no member of the Supervisory Board attended fewer than half of the Supervisory 
Board’s meetings. No conflicts of interest arose for any of the Supervisory Board members 
during the year.
 
One change was made to the composition of the Supervisory Board in 2003. The Gera 
Local Court appointed Dr. Harald Rieger as a new member of the Supervisory Board with 
effect from March 31, 2003. Dr. Rieger resigned from the Supervisory Board with effect 
from October 31, 2003 for personal reasons. He also resigned as a member of the Audit 
Committee at the same time. The Supervisory Board would like to thank Dr. Rieger for his 
work. 
 
There were a number of changes to the Management Board in the fiscal year 2003. On July 
14, 2003, Mr. Stephan Schambach handed over his position as Chairman of the Manage-
ment Board and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) with immediate effect to Dr. Jürgen Schöt-
tler, the Management Board member responsible for finance and Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO). Dr. Schöttler now holds the positions of both CEO and CFO. Mr. Stephan Scham-
bach's duties on the Management Board focused on strategy and product development 
until he left the company and at the same time resigned as a Management Board member 
on February 4, 2004. Mr. Werner Fuhrmann resigned as a Management Board member 
with immediate effect on July 16, 2003. Mr. Fuhrmann was responsible for sales in the 
Europe, Middle East, and Africa regions. We would like to thank Mr. Schambach and Mr. 
Fuhrmann for their contributions to Intershop Communications AG.
 
Ernst & Young Revisions- und Treuhandgesellschaft mbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft (auditors and tax consultants; formerly Arthur Andersen 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft mbH), which was elected by 
the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on May 28, 2003 as auditor for fiscal year 2003, audited 
the accounts, the annual and consolidated financial statements, and the combined manage-
ment report and group management report of Intershop Communications AG and issued 
unqualified audit opinions. After detailed reviews by the Audit Committee, the Supervisory 
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Board also reviewed the annual financial statements and the consolidated financial state-
ments for the year ended December 31, 2003, and the combined management report and 
group management report. On April 28, 2004, the Supervisory Board concurred with the 
audit results and approved the annual and consolidated financial statements prepared by 
the Management Board. The annual financial statements of Intershop Communications AG 
have thus been adopted.
 
On behalf of the Supervisory Board, I would like to thank the Management Board and all 
our employees for their hard work and commitment in the past fiscal year.
Jena, April 28, 2004
 

 
Eckhard Pfeiffer
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Intershop Communications AG
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    Corporate Structure 

Intershop Communications AG:

 Ownership %
Intershop Communications, Inc., San Francisco, USA 100
Intershop Communications Ventures GmbH, Jena, Germany 100
Intershop (U.K.) Ltd., London, United Kingdom 100
IS Nordic, AB, Stockholm, Sweden 100
Intershop Communications Hong Kong Co. Ltd., Hong Kong, China 99.99
Intershop Communications Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore 100
Intershop Communications Australia Pty Ltd., Sydney, Australia 100
Intershop Communications Taiwan Co. Ltd., Taipei, Taiwan 100
Intershop Communications Korea Co. Ltd., Seoul, Korea 99.98
Intershop Communications K.K., Tokyo, Japan 100

    Directors' Holdings 

As of December 31, 2003, post one-for-five reverse stock split

Name Title, Function Shares held*
Stock options

held*, **
Eckhard Pfeiffer Chairman of the Supervisory Board 80,000 0
Theodore J. Smith Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board 21,458 0
Peter Mark Droste Member of the Supervisory Board 0 0
Hans W. Gutsch Member of the Supervisory Board 70,000 0
Burgess Jamieson Member of the Supervisory Board 228,900*** 0

Dr. Jürgen Schöttler 
Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Management Board,
Chief Financial Officer **** 14,000 160,000

Stephan Schambach Member of Management Board **** 4,244,299*** 100,000
 
* All information post one-for-five reverse stock split. As part of the Company’s initiative to 
strengthen its balance sheet and increase its financial flexibility, on October 30, 2002 Inter-
shop’s stockholders approved the reduction of the company’s capital by €77,225,600, or 
a ratio of five to one, from €96,532,000 to €19,306,400.  This reduction in share capital 
took legal effect on December 12, 2002, when a resolution on a simplified reduction of cap-
ital was entered in the commercial register of Gera, Germany, local court, in accordance 
with sections 229 ff. of the Aktiengesetz (German Stock Corporation Act).  The new shares 
began trading on a consolidated basis on January 20, 2003.  Following the stock split, the 
International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) of Intershop Communications AG’s 
common bearer shares changed from ISIN DE 000 622 700 2 to ISIN DE 000 747 292 0.  
 
** The stock options were granted under the conditions of the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan. 
Details on the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan can be found in the Notes to the Consolidated 
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Financial Statements in the Company’s 2003 annual report (section 12). Jürgen Schöttler’s 
stock options have an average reverse stock split adjusted exercise price of €4.16 per 
share, and Stephan Schambach's stock options have an exercise price of €1.91 per share.
 
*** On June 18, 2003, Intershop disclosed that the share swap announced on January 23, 
2002, under which the Chairman of the Management Board and co-founder Stephan 
Schambach would exchange his shares in the subsidiary Intershop Communications, Inc. 
for common bearer shares of the parent Company, Intershop Communications AG, had 
been completed. Under the transaction, Mr. Schambach exchanged his 4,166,665 shares 
of Intershop Communications, Inc., the U.S. subsidiary majority-owned by Intershop Com-
munications AG, for 2,499,999 common bearer shares of Intershop Communications AG. 
To this end, Intershop Communications AG issued 2,499,999 new common bearer shares 
from Conditional Capital III. Similarly, on June 17, 2003, Burgess Jamieson, a Member of 
the Supervisory Board of Intershop Communications AG, exchanged his 381,500 shares of 
Intershop Communications, Inc. for 228,900 common bearer shares of Intershop Communi-
cations AG on the basis of an existing exchange option. To this end, Intershop issued 
228,900 new common bearer shares from Conditional Capital III. Neither Mr. Schambach’s 
nor Mr. Jamieson’s new shares have yet been admitted for trading on the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange. The transaction by Mr. Schambach increased the number of issued shares of 
Intershop Communications AG by 12.8%, from 19,535,300 before the implementation of 
the share swap to 22,035,299 afterwards. As a result of the swap, Mr. Schambach’s inter-
est in the share capital of Intershop Communications AG increased from 8.93% before the 
implementation of the share swap to 19.26% afterwards.
 
**** On July 14, 2003 the Company's Supervisory Board appointed Dr. Jürgen Schöttler to 
the position of Chairman of the Management Board and Chief Executive Officer. Dr. Schöt-
tler remained the Management Board member responsible for finance and Chief Financial 
Officer. Mr. Stephan Schambach was the Management Board member responsible for Strat-
egy and Product Development at the balance sheet date. On February 4, 2004, Mr. Scham-
bach resigned as a member of the Management Board and at the same time left the Com-
pany.
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    Securities Transactions Subject to Reporting Requirements 

The members of the Company’s executive bodies made the following purchases of Inter-
shop common bearer shares during the fiscal year 2003 (expressed in line with the 5:1 
reverse stock split):

Name Date
Type of 
transaction Amount

Total
value (€)

Supervisory Board:     
Burgess Jamieson June 17, 2003 Purchase* 228,900  228,900
Management Board:     
Dr. Jürgen Schöttler February 28, 2003 Purchase 2,100 5,250
Dr. Jürgen Schöttler March 3, 2003 Purchase 5,900 14,750
Stephan Schambach March 5, 2003 Purchase 77,000 254,100
Stephan Schambach June 18, 2003 Purchase* 2,499,999 2,499,999

* please refer to the information on the shares acquired by Burgess Jamieson and Stephan 
Schambach on June 17, 2003 and June 18, 2003 respectively, under section 2  "Directors’ 
Holdings", footnote ***. 

    Offices 

Jena / Hamburg / Stuttgart / San Francisco 

    Financial Calendar 2004 

Date Event
February 13, 2004 Release of Q4/03 and FY 2003 financials
April 30, 2004 Release of Q1/04 financials
July 7, 2004 Annual stockholders’ meeting
July 30, 2004 Release of Q2/04 and 6-month financials
October 29, 2004 Release of Q3/04 and 9-month financials
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